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A. Introduction 
The Algonquin Enrolment Board and Algonquin Tribunal were established by an ANR Special 
Resolution of April 20, 2021 (Motion 20210420-01). The purpose of the Board and Tribunal is to 
consider appeals and protests resulting from Stage 1 of Enrolment under the Proposed 
Beneficiary Criteria (PBC). The establishment of the Board and Tribunal had been anticipated by 
an ANR Special Resolution of January 22, 2020 (Motion 20200122-01) which set out the details 
and process for enrolment under the PBC.  
 
By way of a motion made on June 16, 2022, the ANRs referred certain historic persons that are 
on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors to the Algonquin Tribunal for the purposes of 
determining whether such historic persons are identified in a historic record or document dated 
on or before December 31, 1921, in such a way that it would be reasonable to conclude that 
the person was considered to be an Algonquin or Nipissing, or a sibling of such a person. A 
“sibling of such a person” means a person with a common Algonquin parent. These references 
were made pursuant to section 76(d) of the ANR Special Resolution of April 20, 2021 (Motion 
20210420-01). 
 
“Algonquin Ancestor” is defined in Article 1 of the Special Resolution of January 22, 2020 and 
referenced in the Special Resolution of April 20, 2021, as follows: 

“Algonquin Ancestor” means a person who was born on or before July 15, 1897 and 
identified in an historic record or document dated on or before December 31, 1921, in 
such a way that it would be reasonable to conclude that the person was considered to be 
an Algonquin or Nipissing, or a sibling of such a person, and includes the persons listed in 
the schedule of Algonquin Ancestors, as amended by the Algonquin Negotiation 
Representatives from time to time and which may be viewed at the Algonquins of Ontario 
Consultation Office and Algonquin community offices. In this definition, a sibling of a 
person is a person with a common Algonquin parent” [emphasis added]  

Cecile Mawiskak McDonnell is one of the 14 ancestors referred to the Tribunal for review. This 
report provides information held in the Enrolment Office regarding Cecile Mawiskak 
McDonnell. 

B. Methodology and organization of report 
This report is based on written documents in the possession of the Enrolment Office at the time 
of writing. The information contained in these documents is outlined in Sections C to F. The 
source of the information is footnoted by an ALG document number. ALG document numbers 
are randomly assigned numbers for primary documents held in the Enrolment Office database. 
The cited documents are listed and their images appended to this report as described below. 
 
Note that certain historic people referred to in this report are also identified by a “RIN #.” A 
“RIN #” is a randomly generated number assigned by the Legacy Genealogical database to each 
individual person entered in that database. The individuals referred to in this report, including 
historic persons that have been identified as Algonquin Ancestors, persons descended from 
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these ancestors, and various non-Algonquin people who are married to Algonquins have been 
identified by an RIN #. RIN #s also appear in the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The use of a 
RIN # is not indicative of whether a historic person is, or is not, an Algonquin Ancestor, as 
defined above, or is otherwise suspected of being Algonquin. It merely means that the historic 
person has been entered into the Legacy Genealogical database. RIN #s are used to assist in the 
identification and tracing of family trees and are particularly useful when a historic person may 
be identified by different names or spelling conventions or when several individuals have the 
same or similar name. 
 
Appendix 1 is a genealogical chart, also known as a family tree, illustrating the descendancy 
relationships between the unnamed parents of the subject ancestor, the subject ancestor, her 
spouse, their children, and their children’s spouses. It is recommended that you consult this 
chart when reading the report as it assists in understanding the different individuals. It can be 
printed out for ease of reference. 
 
Appendix 2 is a timeline identifying the major life events for this ancestor that are recorded in 
the documents appended to Appendix 4. The table is organized chronologically by date of event 
and specifies the type of event, location of event, notes on individuals involved, tribal origin, 
and the ALG document number of the source (archival) document. Note that some events 
included in Appendix 2 may not be fully described in this report but are provided for additional 
context. 
 
Appendix 3 is a list of supporting documents relevant to the ancestor. The table is organized by 
ALG document number and specifies the date of the document, a brief document description, 
and the archival source of the document.  
 
Appendix 4 is a package of supporting documents cited in this report. These are images of the 
actual documents. They are organized by ALG document number and thus appear in the same 
order as the list in Appendix 3. The images are bookmarked for ease of reference. The original 
archival source of the document, where available, is stamped on the document image as well as 
being included in the table in Appendix 3.  

C. Name variations 
Cecile Mawiskak McDonnell’s surname was commonly spelled McDonell or McDonald with 
Mawiskak or dite Mawishk attached to her name on a few documents. She was sometimes 
referred to as Marie Cecile or simply Marie. Cecile’s married name was Dorion also spelled as 
Dorian, Laurion and Lorion. These spelling anomalies commonly occurred in historic documents 
where individuals who created written records at the time of events used phonetic spellings to 
record names as they understood them. In addition, when handwritten records were 
transcribed, recorders often guessed at the spelling of a name, adding to the confusion. Further 
complications arise because individuals frequently changed their names throughout their life 
time. These anomalies can make it difficult to determine if records are referencing the same 
individual. 
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D. Original basis for including Cecile Mawiskak McDonnell on the Schedule of Algonquin 
Ancestors 

The name of Cecile Mawiskak McDonnell was placed on the Schedule of Ancestors after a 
board decision on April 15, 2000. A subsequent protest in 2011 was not successful and Cecile’s 
name remained on the Schedule. This report contains the results of further research on Cecile 
McDonell dite Mawishk, as well as a review of the original board decision and documents 
reviewed during the 2011 protest.  

E. Documents related to Cecile McDonnell Mawishk and what they purport to say 

E.1 Cecile McDonnell/McDonald dite Mawishk 

• The earliest record found for Cecile McDonell (RIN #14687) is the baptism of her 
daughter Marie Cecile at Pointe-aux-Trembles on February 7, 1835. Marie Cecile was 
noted as being 14 months old at the time of the baptism (born around January 1834) 
and the “fille naturelle” of “Narcisse Lorrion,” a voyageur, and “Cecile Magdelaine.” The 
use of the term “naturelle” indicates that the parents had not been formally married. 
The name “Magdelaine” may have been a pronunciation error applying a French accent 
to her surname McDonell or it may have referred to a second Christian name. Note that 
the name Magdelaine does not appear in any of her subsequent records. The 
godparents were Marie Josephe Lorrion and Jacques Lorrion, presumably relatives of 
Narcisse.1 Pointe-aux-Trembles was a small settlement located on the east end of 
Montreal Island. 

 
• Cecile and Narcisse baptized their son Narcis at the Matawan Post, located at what is 

now modern-day Mattawa, on July 9, 1836. This is the earliest record of their presence 
in Mattawa. Narcis was noted as being the 3-month-old son of “Narcis Lorion” and 
“Cicile Mawishk.” Narcisse was described as the “Keeper” of the post, and Cecile was 
noted as being from the “Sauteurs” nation. The godparents were François Roy dit 
Portelance and Elisabeth Nibiassijikokwe, who have not been identified.2  
 

o Father Charles De Bellefeuille, the priest who performed the baptism, had 
worked at the mission at Oka from 1824 to 1834 and studied the Algonquin 
language. He was on his first trip to Temiskaming from June to August 1836 
when he baptized Narcis.3 Sauteur or Saulteaux was a name given by French-
speakers to an Ojibwe/Ojibway group in southern Manitoba and Saskatchewan. 
They were also known as Western Ojibwe and, like Algonquins, are an 
Algonquian-speaking people. Father Bellefeuille’s history suggests that he would 
be generally familiar with the difference between the Saulteaux (western 
Ojibwe) language and the Algonquin language, which may have been a factor in 
identifying Cecile as being from the “Sauteur” Nation. 

 

 
1 ALG-40179 
2 ALG-22371 

3  ALG-40232, ALG-40233 
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• “Marie Cecile McDonell dite Mawish” married “Narcis Laurion” (RIN #14686) at 
Temiscamingue on June 22, 1837. Narcisse was noted as being engaged at the Hudson’s 
Bay Company (HBC) post at Matawan (Mattawa). Cecile was identified as “Metisse” and 
living at the “Matawan Poste.”4 In this context, the use of the term “Metisse” means a 
woman of mixed Indigenous and French or other European descent.  
 

o Father Charles de Bellefeuille, who performed this marriage, is the same priest 
that baptized their son Narcis the previous year at Mattawa. In this record, 
Father Bellefeuille indicates that Cecile is “Metisse.” The priest used different 
descriptions to identify Cecile on these two records a year apart which raises the 
question of the basis upon which he ascribed ethnic affiliation. 

 
• The 1837 marriage legitimized Narcisse and Cecile’s two children. Marie was noted as 

being born 16 January 1834 and Narcis was shown as 15 months old. Their baptisms 
were noted above.5  

 
• A daughter Sophie was baptized at Matawan in June of 1839, having been born the 

previous December. On this record, Cecile’s name was given as “Marie McDonald,” 
Narcisse as “Narcisse Dorion.” The godmother was Marie Anne Tepinaganokwe, who 
has not been identified.6 Note that the entry above Sophie’s baptismal record was the 
baptism of a child of Sophie’s godmother, Marie Ann Tepinaganokwe. “Marie 
McDonald” stood as godmother to that child, indicating a tight bond between those two 
women. 
 

• Cecile and Narcisse’s third daughter, Marianne, was baptized at Matawan in 1845. On 
this record, they were named as “Cecile McDonell” and “Narcisse Lorion.” No ethnic 
identifiers were given for Cecile.7 The godparents are listed as “Simon Nimasiba” and 
“Marie 8ackijikok8e,” who have not been identified. 
  

• “Cecile McDonell” and “Narcisse Dorion” baptized Daniel Dorion at Matawan in 1847. 
His godfather was Louis Bastien (RIN #3763), whose wife Marie Anne Josette Sipikwe 
(RIN #3764) is listed on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The godmother was 
Marianne McKay (RIN #14098) whose daughter Anna McDonald (RIN #2197) is listed on 
the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors and is the subject of a separate report.8 
 

• “Cecile McDonell” and “Narcisse Dorion” baptized two-month-old Alexander in 
September 1849. The baptism was recorded in the Temiscamingue Indian Registers; 
however, no location for the baptism was provided. Alexander McDonell (RIN #1409), 
the father of Anna McDonald noted above, was named as a witness to this baptism, but 

 
4 ALG-07289 
5 ALG-07289 
6 ALG-02110 

7 ALG-07288 
8 ALG-07274 
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no family connection was provided between the mother (Cecile McDonell) and the 
witness (Alexander McDonell).9 
 

• Cecile and Narcisse’s daughter Sophie married Antoine Colton (aka Antoine Bastien, RIN 
#3769) around the year 1860. The marriage document for Sophie and Antoine has not 
been located. The marriage is noted in a 1910 report from local Indian Affairs officer.10 
Antoine was the son of Marie Anne Josette Sipikwe (RIN #3764) who is listed on the 
Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors.  
 

• The 1861 census for Mattawa, Nipissing listed Narcisse Dorion with his wife Cecile, their 
5 children, and three grandchildren. Cecile was noted as being born in Upper Canada 
(now Ontario) along with her children, however no ethnic question was asked on this 
census.11 
 

• Cecile and Narcisse’s daughter Caroline Dorion married Joseph Lapensee at St. Anne’s 
Church, Mattawa, in 1864. Caroline was noted as being native to and living in Mattawa 
(“native and domicilié de Mattawan”) at the time of the marriage. Narcisse witnessed 
the marriage.12 In this context, the term “native” referred to a person’s area of birth or 
long-time residence; it was not used to denote Indigenous heritage. 
 

• The 1871 census for Mattawa North listed Cecile living with her husband Narcisse and 
four of their children. Cecile was noted as being born in Manitoba and being of Scotch 
origin.13 This family were enumerated in the same dwelling as George Hunter (RIN 
#13258) and “Philomene Mkkima dit MicMac” (RIN #57571). George Hunter was an 
officer of the HBC Company. Philomene’s father, Pierre Nicholas Mikkima (RIN #6802), is 
listed on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. Three other single adult males are in the 
household. Of all the adult men living in the dwelling, two are clerks; the others 
labourers. This configuration suggests these are HBC employees occupying a residence 
at the post. 
 

• Cecile died in 1875 and was buried in St. Anne’s churchyard, Mattawa on April 25. She 
was noted as the being the spouse of P. N. Dorion, having died at about 62 years of 
age.14 This suggests a birth year of around 1812-1813. 
 

• Four of Cecile and Narcisse’s children (Narcisse, Daniel/Donell, Julie, and Louisa) died in 
the 1870s. On Narcisse Jr.’s burial his parents were named as Pierre Narcisse Dorion and 
Cecile McDonell.15 On Donell’s burial they were named as Narcisse Dorion and Cecile 
McDonald.16 The parents of Julie and Louise were not named as they were married 

 
9 ALG-40181 
10 ALG-40165 
11 ALG-22375 
12 ALG-02258 

13 ALG-00421 
14 ALG-22378 
15 ALG-02444 
16 ALG-02476 
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women and only their spouses were referenced.17 No civil death records have been 
located for these four children and, as such, no place of birth for Cecile could be 
ascertained.  

 
• Marie Cecile Sauvie, the widowed daughter of Narcisse and Cecile, married John 

McCracken in 1888 in Mattawa. Their civil marriage record does not give a place of birth 
for the bride’s mother but does note that the bride, Marie Cecile, was born in the North 
West Territories.18 Recall that Marie Cecile had been baptized at Pointe-aux-Trembles 
on Montreal Island in 1835 at the age of 14 months. 
 

• Cecile and Narcisse’s son Alexander married in 1896 at Mattawa. The civil marriage 
record named his parents as Narcisse Dorion and Cecile McDonald, but did not give their 
places of birth. Alexander was said to have been born in Mattawa.19  

 
• The civil death record for Marie Cecile McCracken (née Dorion), who died at Sudbury in 

1912 at the age of 79, names her parents as “N. Drion” and “Mary Drion” but does not 
show their places of birth.20  
 

• The civil death record for Caroline Dorion, who died at 73 years of age in 1916 at 
Mattawa, names her parents as “Narcisse Dorion” and “Cecile McDonald” but does not 
give their places of birth. Caroline is said to be “F. C.” (French Canadian) on this record.21  
 

• The civil death record for Narcisse and Cecile’s daughter Sophie Colton (née Dorion), 
who died at 80 years of age at Mattawa in 1921, does not list her mother’s name nor 
place of birth. Her father, Narcisse Dorion, was recorded as born at Pointe-aux-
Trembles. Sophie was noted as being French in origin. Her son-in-law Hubert Dupuis 
gave the information for the death record.22 

 
As the above-noted documents do not provide clear evidence of Cecile McDonell’s heritage, 
further research was conducted on Cecile’s husband, Narcisse Dorion, their children, and on 
Cecile’s possible parents. 
 

E.2 Narcisse Dorion  
Cecile married Narcisse Dorion (RIN #14686) in 1837, as noted above. 
 

• The HBC biographical sheet for “Narcisse Laurion” notes him as being from Pointe-aux-
Trembles (Montreal) and born around 1806. He signed a three-year contract at Norway 
House, Manitoba in June 1830 and returning to Montreal in July 1834. Narcisse was 

 
17 ALG-40187, ALG-40188 
18 ALG-22385 
19 ALG-22391 

20 ALG-40189 
21 ALG-40192 
22 ALG-22423 
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then sent to HBC posts in “Matawin” (1835-1837) and Lac Des Allumettes (1837-1840) in 
the Fort-Coulonge District. No wife or children were named on this record.23 

 
o Given that their first child, Marie Cecile, was born in January 1834 she would 

have been conceived in 1833. Therefore, it is most probably that Narcisse met 
Cecile at Norway House or in the vicinity as he was engaged at that location from 
June 1830 until his return to Montreal in July 1834. The young family travelled 
together to Montreal, where Marie Cecile was baptized before the family left for 
his posting at Matawan. 
 

o Norway House was located at the northern tip of Lake Winnipeg.24 The post was 
in a transitional area surrounded by Cree and Ojibway.25 As noted previously, 
Saulteaux was a term usually used for western Ojibwe/Ojibway around southern 
Manitoba and Saskatchewan. Cree, Ojibwe, Saulteaux, and Algonquin are all 
Algonquian-speaking peoples; that is, they are separate peoples who all belong 
to a large linguistic group known as Algonquian. 
 

• In 1865 Narcisse and his son Alexandre were named on a petition from the “Indians of 
Mattawa” requesting a mission at Mattawa to serve the Indian population. A John 
Dorion was also named; however, the identity of this John is unclear.26 
 

o Narcisse and Alexander’s names were listed next to that of Johny McDonell (RIN 
#3771), the brother of Anna McDonald noted above, and alongside those of 
many prominent Algonquin men within the Mattawa Algonquin community.  

 
• Narcisse was a witness to the marriage of George Hunter and Philomene Mic-Mac, 

noted above, in 1869 at Mattawa, along with Leon Montreuil (RIN #3901), whose wife 
Marie Anne Mikmak (RIN #3902) was the sister of Philomene.27  

 
• Narcisse was enumerated on the 1881 census living with the family of Johny McDonell 

(RIN #3773), noted above. Narcisse Dorion was listed as being a widower; however, no 
family identification was provided on this census so the relationship between Narcisse 
and Johny is unclear.28 
 

• Narcisse died and was buried at St. Anne’s, Mattawa in 1887. On his burial record he 
was described as being 82 years old and the widower of the deceased Cecile McDonnell. 
The burial was witnessed by his son Alexander.29 

 

 
23 ALG-22370 
24 ALG-40170 
25 ALG-40203 
26 ALG-40100, ALG-40135, ALG-40136 

27 ALG-02290 
28 ALG-40105 
29 ALG-22384 
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The records for Narcisse Dorion provide little further evidence regarding Cecile’s parentage or 
racial origin. Similar to Cecile’s records, the records associated with Narcisse indicate that the 
couple were involved with the Algonquin Community at Mattawa, where Narcisse worked for 
the HBC at the Matawan Poste. 
 

E.3 The Dorion Children 
Census records for the children of Cecile and Narcisse were reviewed for clues as to 
Cecile’s heritage. Only the 1891 and 1921 census returns provided columns for naming 
the place of birth of parents of those enumerated. The table below also shows the racial 
origin of the children of Narcisse and Cecile as identified on the various census returns. 
None of the children were enumerated as being Algonquin in origin; however, Marie 
Cecile, Sophie, and Caroline were identified as “Indian” on the 1881 census living in a 
predominantly “Indian” community at Mattawa. In 1901 Marie Cecile, were shown as 
“R” for Red and described as “French Breed” at Mattawa. Her sister Sophie was recorded 
as “m R” (mixed Indigenous) and “French” by a French census taker on the 1891 census 
in the Township of Papineau in the same year.  
 
The census returns for Cecile McDonell/McDonald’s daughters note Cecile 
McDonell/McDonald as being born in the North West Territories (Marie Cecile’s return, 
1891) or Manitoba (Sophie and Caroline’s returns, 1891). It should be noted here that 
around the time of Cecile McDonell’s birth, presumably around 1807-1813, Manitoba 
did not exist. Rupert’s Land covered the entire area until 1870 when it became known as 
the North West Territories with a small district around the Red River/Winnipeg created 
as Manitoba. Census takers typically identified geographical locations according to the 
territory or province that existed at the time the census was taken rather than by what 
the area was called at the time in which births took place. 
 
Details taken from census records regarding the Dorion children are shown in table 
format, below. 
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Name 1861 Census 1871 Census 1881 Census 1891 Census 1901 Census 1911 Census 1921 Census 
Marie Cecile 
Dorion 

No origin given 
Born: Upper 
Canada 
 
 
 
 
ALG-22375 

Origin: French 
Born: Ruperts 
Land 
 
 
 
 
ALG-40197 

Origin: Indian  
Born: U.S N. York 
 
With “Indians” at 
Mattawa; spouse 
“Scotch” 
 
ALG-00094 

No origin given  
Born: North West 
Territories 
Mother Born: North 
West Territories 
 
 
ALG-22387 

Origin:  
French Breed 
Colour “R” 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
 
ALG-01394 

Not located Deceased 

Narcisse 
Dorion 

No origin given 
Born: Upper 
Canada 
 
ALG-22375 

Origin: French  
Born: Quebec 
 
 
ALG-40196 

Deceased Deceased Deceased Deceased Deceased 

Sophie 
Dorion  

No origin given 
Born: Upper 
Canada 
 
 
 
ALG-22373 

Origin: French 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
 
 
ALG-40196 

Origin: Indian  
Born: Quebec 
 
With “Indians” at 
Mattawa 
 
ALG-00089  
ALG-00094 

No origin given 
Born: Ontario 
Mother Born: 
Manitoba 
 
 
ALG-40198 

Origin: French 
Colour “m R” 
(mixed blood) 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
ALG-22393 

Origin: French 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
 
 
ALG-40200 

Deceased 

Caroline 
Dorion 

Not located Origin: French 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
 
 
 
ALG-40195 

Origin: Indian 
Born: Quebec 
 
With “Indians” at 
Mattawa; spouse 
French 
 
ALG-00094 

No origin given 
Born: Ontario 
Mother Born: 
Manitoba 
 
 
 
ALG-40199 

Origin: French 
Born: Quebec 
 
 
 
 
 
ALG-40201 

Not located Deceased 
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Name 1861 Census 1871 Census 1881 Census 1891 Census 1901 Census 1911 Census 1921 Census 
Daniel/ 
Donald 
Dorion 

No origin given 
Born: Upper 
Canada 
 
ALG-22375 

Origin: French 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
ALG-00421 
ALG-40196 

Deceased Deceased Deceased Deceased Deceased 

Alexander 
Dorion 

No origin given 
Born: Upper 
Canada 
 
 
ALG-22375 

Origin: French 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
 
ALG-00421 

Origin: French 
Born: Quebec 
 
 
 
ALG-40202 

Not located Origin: French 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
 
ALG-40201 

Origin: French 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
 
ALG-40200 

Origin: French 
Born: Ontario 
Mother Born: 
Quebec 
 
ALG-22415 

Julie Dorion No origin given 
Born: Upper 
Canada 
 
ALG-22375 

Origin: French 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
ALG-00421 

Deceased Deceased Deceased Deceased Deceased 

Louise 
Dorion 

No origin given 
Born: Upper 
Canada 
 
ALG-22375 

Origin: French 
Born: Ontario 
 
 
ALG-00421 

Deceased Deceased Deceased Deceased Deceased 
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E.4 Alleged parents of Cecile McDonell: Allan McDonnell and Margaret Cameron  
Cecile McDonell has previously been linked to and believed to be the daughter of Allan 
McDonell (RIN #57432) and Margaret Cameron (RIN #14101), and the sister of Alexander 
McDonell (RIN #14097) and the aunt of Johny McDonell (RIN #3773). The 1861 census listing for 
Cecile gives her age as 48 which would mean a rough birth year of 1813. The 1871 census gives 
her age as 64, an approximate birth year of 1807. Her burial record in April 1875 states her age 
to be 62, suggesting 1812-13 as her birth year. From this we can deduce that Cecile was born 
sometime between 1807 and 1813.  
 
A large and varied amount of documentation was located for the family of Allan McDonell, the 
alleged father of Cecile. Some of the material names the children of Allan and his wife 
Margaret.30   
 

• The HBC biographical record for Allan shows that he was born in Scotland around 1778. 
The sheet lists his reputed wife and children including his daughters Sophie (1811-1835) 
who married a John Livingston in 1834 and died the following year, and Margaret (1825-
1835) who died at the Red River. The record also notes his will in which some of his 
children are named, including an unnamed daughter still living with her mother at the 
time of his death in 1859.31 In addition, Elaine A. Mitchell’s book Fort Timiskaming and 
the Fur Trade indicated that Allan McDonell had at least seven children. Mitchell names 
them as: Alexander, Angus, John, Allan, and Ann. Two (Sophie and Margaret) had died 
young at the Red River.32 Allan’s reputed wife was Margaret a native woman who was 
baptized in 1833, who Mitchell identified as Margaret Cameron, said to be the daughter 
of Aeneas Cameron.  
 

• No daughter named Cecile or Marie Cecile was referenced as a daughter of Allan and 
Margaret in either the HBC source or the Mitchell book.  
 

• The HBC service record for Allan McDonell lists his service with the North West 
Company (NWC) at Fort Dauphin in Manitoba to 1807. There are no notations regarding 
his whereabouts until he is noted as arrested by Lord Selkirk at the Red River in 1818. 
Mitchell notes that he was with the NWC in Swan River or Red River and became a 
partner in the NWC in 1816, which accounts for his conflict with Lord Selkirk at Red 
River Settlement.33 On the HBC biographical sheet he is shown in charge of Carlton 
House in 1819. He served in Qu’Appelle in 1823-24, significantly later than Cecile’s 
birth.34  
 

o In 1767, the original Fort Dauphin was relocated to Lake Dauphin just west of 
Lake Manitoba. This would have been in Ojibwe or Saulteaux territory.35 Fort 

 
30 ALG-40115, ALG-40121 
31 ALG-20745 
32 ALG-40112 

33 ALG-40112 
34 ALG-20745 
35 ALG-40175 
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Carlton was located first on the South Saskatchewan River and then relocated to 
the North Saskatchewan River in 1810 in Cree territory. The Red River and Swan 
Lake areas were in southern Manitoba/Saskatchewan west of Lake Manitoba 
which would have been Saulteaux or Ojibwa country. 

 
• Cecile is thought to have been born between about 1807 and 1813. If she was the 

daughter of Allan McDonell and Margaret Cameron, then it is likely that she was born 
around the Red River or Swan River country while Allan was working with the NWC. 
However, no record has been located to confirm this and there is no record of Allan 
McDonell and Margaret Cameron having a daughter by that name. The only evidence 
we have of the place of her birth comes from the baptism record of her son Narcisse in 
1836 which names her as “Sauteurs,” and the 1861 and 1871 census which record her as 
being born in Upper Canada and the North West Territories, respectively. Her children’s 
records also note her as being born either in the North West Territories or Manitoba. 
Allan McDonell’s HBC biographical sheet and the information published by Mitchell 
shows that McDonell was at Fort Dauphin, Manitoba in 1804, was on an expedition to 
the Mandan in 1806, and then served again at Fort Dauphin in 1806-1807. He is known 
to have been with the NWC in the Red River/Swan River area around the time of Cecile’s 
birth. From a strictly geographical perspective it is possible that Allan McDonnell was 
Cecile’s father, however, there is no known evidence that draws a familial link between 
the two. 
 

• Margaret Cameron, Allan McDonell’s wife was buried at Notre Dame Cathedrale in 1885 
at the age of 86, giving her an approximate birth year of 1799.36 Given that Cecile was 
born between 1807 and 1813, it would be highly unlikely that Margaret would have 
been old enough to be Cecile’s mother. Note however that Allan McDonnell’s daughter 
Sophie was reportedly born in 1811 so Margaret’s age may be misrepresented making 
her of child bearing years in 1811 when Sophie was born. Alternately, Allan may have 
had children with another woman before making a union with Margaret. In either case, 
the link has not been demonstrated between Allan and/or Margaret and a daughter 
Cecile. 
 

• Cecile shared a few life events with Alexander McDonell (RIN #14097) noted in records 
as the son of Allan and Margaret, however there is no documentation that identifies 
these two individuals as siblings or relations. Alexander McDonell joined the HBC in 
1826 and married Mary Ann McKay, the daughter of John McKay. One of their sons was 
named Johny McDonell.37 
 

• No written evidence has been located to show that Cecile was the daughter of Allan 
McDonell and Margaret Cameron or that demonstrates a familial relationship with their 
son Alexander or other members of that family.  

 
36 ALG-40124 37 ALG-20745, ALG-40112 
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E.5 Other possible parents of Cecile McDonell: John McDonell and Magdeleine Poitras 
Other men by the name of McDonald/McDonell were researched in order to identify possible 
parents of Cecile. 

• John McDonell (RIN #31471) was a well-documented fur trader for the North West 
Company (NWC). He came to Canada around 1773 from Scotland and joined the NWC as 
a clerk in 1793.38 
 

• “John MacDonell” married “Magdeleine Poitra” (RIN #31472), at Oka on May 1, 1813. 
John was described as an “ecuyer” (esquire, likely meaning a wintering partner) of the 
Society of the North West living at Pointe-Fortune in the Township of Hawkesbury, 
Upper Canada. Magdeleine was a resident of the parish at Oka.39  
 

• Magdeleine Poitra had been baptized at Oka in January of 1813, a few months before 
the marriage. She was described on the baptismal record as the daughter of Henri 
Poitra, voyageur, and Louise “de nation crise” (of the Cree nation). Magdeleine was 31 
years of age at the time of her baptism.40 

 
• John and Magdeleine’s 1813 marriage also legitimized their six children, the oldest three 

were noted as being resident in Montreal and the three youngest were present at the 
marriage. 41 

 Oneas Daniel, aged 14 years, 4 ½ months (born circa 1799)  
 Magdeleine, aged 11 and a half years (born circa 1802) 
 Ulisse John, aged 9 years and 2 months (born circa 1804) 
 Godefroy John Huniade, aged 6 years and 1 ½ months (born circa 1807) 
 “Cicillia,” aged 3 years and 5 months (born circa 1810) 
 Victor Fingal, aged 15 months (born circa 1812) 

 
• A 1949 article in the Canadian Catholic Historical Association’s Report details John’s 

career noting his wife was Magdeleine Poitras, the daughter of a trader at Qu’Appelle. 
The article also outlines where their six children were born based on his travels and 
work sites, stating “[h]is oldest son was born at the post on the Souris River in 1798; two 
children at Fort Espérance in the Qu’Appelle Valley; one at the Lake St. Claire post in 
Athabaska; one at Isle à la Crosse and the last at Lesser Slave Lake in January 1812.”42 
  

• “Cicillia” was the child born around January of 1810 at Il à la Crosse. This girl could not 
be Cecile McDonell (RIN #14687) as “Cicillia” died in 1818 at the age of 8 years and five 
months. Her burial record named her parents as John Macdonell and Madelaine Poitra 
of Pointe-Fortune.43 John had left the North West Company and retired to Pointe-

 
38 ALG-40205 
39 ALG-40168 
40 ALG-40169 

41 ALG-40168 
42 ALG-40167 
43 ALG-40185 
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Fortune around 1814.44 The account of John McDonell’s service career may be the 
source of the believe that Cecile was born in the Qu’Appelle area. 
 

• There are many other men who share the surname McDonald/McDonell who worked 
for the North West Company or HBC, however none of them had a daughter named 
Cecile identified in any available biographical records.45 
 

Research has failed to identify the parents of Cecile McDonell/McDonald (aka Mawishk) (RIN 
#14687). 

F. Summary/Issues 
• Two documents provide the only known written evidence that refer to Cecile’s 

Indigenous heritage.  
o The earliest is the 1836 baptism of her son “Narcis” at Mattawa which states she 

is from the “Sauteurs” nation. As noted above, the priest who recorded the 1836 
baptism had a history of serving the mission at Oka. He was travelling to 
establish missionary services at Temiskaming when he performed the baptism in 
Mattawa in 1836. His long association with the mission at Oka suggests that he 
would be able to distinguish between an Algonquin and a Saulteaux by their 
spoken language if not by their self-identification. 
 

o The following year the same priest married Cecile and Narcisse at 
Temiscamingue identify her as being “Metisse.” The inconsistent identities that 
the priest recorded for Cecile in 1836 (“Sauteurs”) and in 1837 (“Metisse”) raises 
the question of the basis upon which he identified her heritage. 
 

• Census records provide little evidence on Cecile’s ethnic origin. She is listed as “Scotch” 
on the 1871 census. There is no ethnicity question on the 1861 census and she died 
prior to the 1881 census. Three daughters (Marie Cecile, Sophie and Caroline) were 
noted as “Indian” in 1881. In 1901, Marie Cecile was shown as “R” and “French Breed;” 
while her full sister was listed as “mR” and “French,” indicating that both were 
considered mixed French and Indigenous. Their father Narcisse was clearly French and 
therefore their Indigenous descent must have been through Cecile. 
 

• Cecile is clearly Indigenous. Whether she was Saulteaux (western Ojibwe), Algonquin or 
from some other nation is not clearly documented. To assist in understanding her 
probable affiliation it is useful to examine the evidence regarding her place of origin. 
However, this approach is made difficult because her parents have not been positively 
identified. 
 

 
44 ALG-40184 45 

https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/biograph
ical/index.html  

https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/biographical/index.html
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/biographical/index.html
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• The census records are not consistent in identifying Cecile’s place of origin. She is listed 
as being from Upper Canada (1861) and Manitoba (1871). On the census records for her 
children, Cecile was said to have been born in North West Territories (Marie Cecile’s 
1891 return) and Manitoba (Sophie and Caroline’s 1891 returns). Her oldest child, Marie 
Cecile, who was born in January 1834, was shown on the 1871 census as being born in 
Rupert’s Land and the North West Territories on the 1891 census. Note that the North 
West Territories was known as Rupert’s Land before 1870. 
 

• Considered together, the known evidence suggests that Cecile was born between 1807 
and 1813, most probably in the part of the country then known as Rupert’s Land and 
later known as the Northwest Territories. Manitoba came into existence in 1870 as a 
very small territory around the south end of Lake Winnipeg, known as the Red River 
settlement. Prior to 1870, it was within Rupert’s Land. Manitoba very gradually 
expanding its boundaries until 1912. It is possible that Cecile was born in the southern 
portion of Rupert’s Land, later recognized as Manitoba, or in some other location in 
NWT. In any case, that area was the territory of the Saulteaux (western Ojibwe) or Cree, 
which would be consistent with her being identified as belonging to the “Sauteurs” 
nation on her son’s 1836 baptismal record. If one of her parents, presumably her father, 
was of European descent it would also account for her being identified as “Metisse,” 
which simply meant of mixed Indigenous-European descent and does not give any 
further clues to her Indigenous heritage. 

 
• Cecile was closely associated with known Algonquins. For example: 

o her children married into Algonquin families (e.g. 1860 marriage of Sophie);  
o known Algonquins witnessed some of her important family events (1847, 1849 

baptisms at Mattawa). Other Indigenous people who have not been identified 
also provided this support (1839 and 1845 baptisms at Mattawa) 

o Cecile and Narcisse resided in close proximity to Algonquin families (1871 census 
in Mattawa); and 

o Cecile’s spouse, Narcisse, signed the 1865 petition from the Indians of Mattawa 
seeking missionary services for the Algonquin community at that location. 
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Appendix 1: Parents and Children of Cecile Mawishk McDonnell RIN #14687 
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Appendix 2: Ancestor Timeline for Cecile Mawishk McDonnell 
The documents in this table are listed chronologically. The documents can be found in Appendix 3, organized by ALG document 
number.  

Date Event Location Notes Origin Doc No. 
1835-02-07 Baptism Pointe-aux-Trembles Baptism of daughter Marie Cecile Not given ALG-40179 
1836-07-09 Baptism Matawan HBC Post Baptism of son Daniel. “De la nation des 

sauteurs” 
ALG-22371 

1837-06-22 Marriage Temiscamingue Marriage of Narcisse Dorion and Cecile 
McDonell Mawishk 

Metisse ALG-07289 

1839-06-03 Baptism Matawan HBC Post Baptism of daughter Sophie Not given ALG-02110 
1845-06-08 Baptism Matawan HBC Post Baptism of daughter Marianne Not given ALG-07288 
1847-05-08 Baptism Matawan HBC post Baptism of son Daniel Not given ALG-07274 
1849-09-27 Baptism Matawan HBC post Baptism of son Alexander Not given ALG-40181 
1860-00-00 Marriage Unknown Marriage of daughter Sophie to Antoine 

Colton 
Unknown ALG-40165 

1861-00-00 Census Mattawa, Nipissing Enumerated on Census living with husband 
Narcisse and their children 

Not given ALG-22375 

1864-08-06 Marriage St. Anne’s, Mattawa Marriage of daughter Caroline to Joseph 
Lapensee 

“Native et domicile de 
Mattawan” 

ALG-02258 

1871-00-00 Census Mattawa, Nipissing Enumerated on Census living with husband 
Narcisse and their children 

Scotch ALG-00421 

1871-05-15 Marriage St. Anne’s, Mattawa  Marriage of daughter Julie to Moise Robert 
Boulanger 

Bride born and 
resident at Mattawa 

ALG-22377* 

1872-06-02 Burial St. Anne’s, Mattawa  Burial of son Narcisse Not given ALG-02444 
1873-07-27 Baptism St. Anne’s, Mattawa  Godparent to Allen McDonell Not given ALG-02463* 
1874-12-22 Burial St. Anne’s, Mattawa  Burial of son Daniel Not given ALG-02476 
1875-04-25 Burial St. Anne’s, Mattawa  Burial of Cecile Not given ALG-22378 
1875-05-23 Burial St. Anne’s, Mattawa  Burial of daughter Julie Not given ALG-40187 
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*Document not cited in report.

Date Event Location Notes Origin Doc No. 
1876-12-30 Marriage St. Anne’s, Mattawa  Marriage of daughter Louisa to William 

Wright 
Daughter “de cette 
mission” 

ALG-02508* 

1877-10-17 Burial St. Anne’s, Mattawa  Burial of daughter Louisa Not given ALG-40188 
1885-10-26 Marriage St. Anne’s, Mattawa Marriage of daughter Caroline to Louis Sirois Not given ALG-40190* 
1887-00-00 Burial St. Anne’s, Mattawa  Burial of husband Narcisse Dorion Not given ALG-22384 
1888-10-14 Marriage Mattawa Marriage of daughter Marie to John 

McCracken 
Not given ALG-22385 

1896-04-12 Marriage Mattawa Marriage of son Alexander to Emelie Martel Not given ALG-22391 
1912-11-23 Death Sudbury Death record for daughter Marie Cecile Not given ALG-40189 
1916-11-17 Burial St. Anne’s, Mattawa Burial of daughter Caroline Not given ALG-40191* 
1921-01-27 Death Mattawa, Nipissing Death record for daughter Sophie Not given ALG-22423 
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Appendix 3: Supporting Document List for Cecile Mawishk McDonnell 
The documents in this table are listed by ALG number and appended in Appendix 4 

 
Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-00089 1881-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Unorganised Territory p. 5-8 

ALG-00094 1881-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Unorganised Territory p. 5-8 

ALG-00421 1871-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing 
North > Mattawan North p. 3 

ALG-01394 1901-00-00 Census LAC RG 31 T-6484 Province: Ontario District Name: Nipissing (No. 92) Sub-District 
Name: Mattawan (Town) (No. O1) p. 9 

ALG-02110 1839-06-03 Baptism of Sophie 
Dorion 

Institut Généalogique Drouin; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Catholic Church Records 
(Drouin Collection), 1802-1967 P > Pembroke > Mission > 1839-1842 p. 2 

ALG-02258 1864-08-06 Marriage of Caroline 
Dorion and Joseph 
Lapensee 

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; 
Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 15 

ALG-02290 1869-11-01 Marriage of George 
Hunter and Philomene 
Mic-Mac 

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; 
Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 28 

ALG-02444 1872-06-02 Burial of Narcisse Dorion Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; 
Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 38 

ALG-02463 1873-07-27 Baptism of Allen 
McDonell 

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; 
Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 46 

ALG-02476 1874-12-22 Burial of Donell Dorion Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; 
Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 55 
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Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-02508 1876-12-30 Marriage Louise Dorion 
and WilliamWright 

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; 
Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 79 

ALG-07274 1847-05-30 Baptism of Daniel Dorion Institute Généalogique Drouin, Montreal; Ancestry. ca Quebec, Canada, Vital and 
Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1621-1968 M > Maniwaki > ALL > 1843-1899 p. 55 

ALG-07288 1845-06-08 Baptism of Marianne 
Lorion 

Institute Généalogique Drouin, Montreal; Ancestry. ca Quebec, Canada, Vital and 
Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1621-1968 M > Maniwaki > ALL > 1843-1899 p. 31 

ALG-07289 1837-06-22 Marriage Narcisse 
Laurion and Marie Cecile 
McDonell dite Mawishk 

Catholic Church. Diocese of Pembroke, (Ontario); www.familysearch.org Registrés 
paroissiaux, 1836-1842 Film 1703968, DGS 7769217 Image 31 

ALG-20745 1999-04-00 HBC Biographical Record 
of Allan McDonell 

Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet for Allan McDonell; 1999; PAM, HBCA, 
McDonell, Allan.  
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/biographical/mc/mcdonell_allan.pdf 

ALG-22370 2007-07-00 HBC Biographical Record 
of Narcisse Laurion 

Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet for Narcisse Laurion; 1999; PAM, HBCA, 
Laurion, Narcisse.  
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/biographical/l/laurion_narcisse1830-
1840.pdf 

ALG-22371 1836-07-09 Baptism of Narcis Lorion Catholic Church. Diocese of Pembroke, (Ontario); www.familysearch.org Registrés 
paroissiaux, 1836-1842 Film 1703968, DGS 7769217 Image 15 

ALG-22373 1861-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1091; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > 
Algoma p.135 

ALG-22375 1861-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1091; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > 
Algoma p.133 

ALG-22377 1871-05-15 Marriage of Julie Dorion 
and Moise Robert 

Institut Généalogique Drouin; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Catholic Church Records 
(Drouin Collection), 1802-1967 M > Mattawa > ALL > 1860-1875 p. 25 

ALG-22378 1875-04-25 Burial of Cecile McDonell Institut Généalogique Drouin; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Catholic Church Records 
(Drouin Collection), 1802-1967 M > Mattawa > ALL > 1860-1875 p. 49 

ALG-22384 1887-11-02 Burial of Narcisse Dorion 
au Lorion 

Institut Généalogique Drouin; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Catholic Church Records 
(Drouin Collection), 1802-1967 M > Mattawa > ALL > 1885-1890 p. 75 
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Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-22385 1888-10-11 Marriage of Marie Sauvie 
dit Lorian and John 
McCracken 

AOO, Toronto Registrations of Marriages, 1869-1925 Reel 59; Ancestry.ca Ontario, 
Canada, Marriages, 1826-1938 Nipissing > 1888 p. 26 

ALG-22387 1891-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6355; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing > 
Mattawa p. 21 

ALG-22391 1896-05-18 Marriage of Alexander 
Dorion and Cemelie 
Martel 

AOO, Toronto Registrations of Marriages, 1869-1982 Reel 88; Ancestry.ca Ontario, 
Canada, Marriages, 1826-1938 Nipissing > 1896 p. 40 

ALG-22393 1901-00-00 Census LAC RG 31 Reel T-6484.; Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing > 
Papineau p. 2 

ALG-22415 1921-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Folder No:130 Census Place:130 Pontiac-Temiscamingue-Abitibi, 
Quebec Page No:29; Ancestry.ca 1921 Census Quebec > Pontiac-Temiscamingue-
Abitibi > Sub-District 54 - Temiskaming, Gaudreau Gendron p. 30 

ALG-22423 1921-01-27 Death of Sophie Colton AOO, Toronto MS 935, Reel 280; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths 
Overseas, 1869-1948 Nipissing > 1921 p. 75 

ALG-40100 1865-09-03 Petition Roman Catholic Diocese of Pembroke, Archives, Missionary Correspondence. Petition 
des “sauvages de Mattawa.” 3 September 1865 

ALG-40105 1881-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235 Province: Ontario; District Name: Renfrew North (No. 
114); Sub-District Name: Unorganized Territory (No. M); p. 8 

ALG-40112 1977-00-00 Biographical Appendix of 
Allan McDonell  

Mitchell, Elaine A. Fort Timiskaming and the Fur Trade. Toronto: Univ. of Toronto 
Press, 1977. 

ALG-40115 1934-00-00 
Printed 
2022-10-06 

Biographical Dictionary 
of Allan MacDonell 

Service record of MacDonell, Allan LAC General Collection FC15 C4 No. 22 Item 
33286055472035 Wallace, W. Stewart, "Documents relating to the North West 
Company,” 1934 The Champlain Society, Toronto 

ALG-40121 2022-09-28 
(accessed) 

Canadian Biography of 
Allan McDonell 

Elaine Allan Mitchell, “McDONELL, ALLAN,” in Dictionary of Canadian Biography, vol. 
8, University of Toronto/Université Laval, 2003–, accessed October 18, 2022 
http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/mcdonell_allan_8E.html  

http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/mcdonell_allan_8E.html
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Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-40124 1885-08-31 Burial record of Dame 
Ann Cameron 

Institute Généalogique Drouin, Montreal; Ancestry. ca Quebec, Canada, Vital and 
Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1621-1968 M > Montréal > Basilique Notre-
Dame > 1885 

ALG-40135 1865-09-03 Translation of 1865 
Petition 

Roman Catholic Diocese of Pembroke, Archives, Missionary Correspondence. Petition 
des “sauvages de Mattawa.” 3 September 1865 

ALG-40136 1865-09-03 Transcription of 1865 
Petition 

Roman Catholic Diocese of Pembroke, Archives, Missionary Correspondence. Petition 
des “sauvages de Mattawa.” 3 September 1865 

ALG-40165 1910-04-30 Report of family of 
Mattawa named 
Peechese or Bastien 

LAC RG 10 Vol. 2929 File 192,533 

ALG-40167 2022-10-25 The Macdonell Family in 
the West 

CCHA, Report, 16 (1949), 71-82 Rev. Vincent Jensen, SJ, MA "The Macdonell Family in 
the West." Accessed October 25, 2022. 
http://www.cchahistory.ca/journal/CCHA1949/Jensen.pdf  

ALG-40168 1813-05-01 Marriage of John 
MacDonell and 
Magdeleine Poitras 

"Registre de la paroisse l”Annonciation-de-la-Bienheureuse-Vierge-Marie de Oka, 
1806-1831," F.M. 8 G 21 Vol. 3 [Institute Drouin ISBN 2-554-03341-2 RNCD477] 

ALG-40169 1813-01-30 Baptism of Magdeleine 
Poitras 

"Registre de la paroisse l”Annonciation-de-la-Bienheureuse-Vierge-Marie de Oka, 
1806-1831," F.M. 8 G 21 Vol. 3 [Institute Drouin ISBN 2-554-03341-2 RNCD477] 

ALG-40170 1987-00-00 Trading Posts 1774-1821 Harris, R. Cole, editor. Historical Atlas of Canada. Vol. 1: From the Beginning to 1800. 
Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987, plate 62. 

ALG-40175 1990-00-00 Canada. Native peoples 
1823 

Canada. Native peoples 1823. Produced by the National Atlas Information Service, 
Geographical Services Division, Canada Centre for Mapping, Energy, Mines and 
Resources Canada. Printed 1990. The National Atlas of Canada (5th edition). 

ALG-40179 1835-02-07 Baptism of Marie Cecile 
Lorion 

Institute Généalogique Drouin, Montreal; Ancestry. ca Quebec, Canada, Vital and 
Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1621-1968 P > Pointe-aux-Trembles > St-Enfant-
Jésus-de-la-Pointe-aux-Trembles > 1835 p. 3 

ALG-40181 1849-09-27 Baptism of Alexander 
Dorion 

AOO F 978 Box MU 3567 LAC MS 811 Reel 6  
Albany-Temagami (Temiscamingue) Indian Registers of Births, Marriages, and Deaths, 
1843-1876 (Maintained by the Oblates of St. Marc de Figuery) 

http://www.cchahistory.ca/journal/CCHA1949/Jensen.pdf
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Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-40184 2003-10-27 
(accessed) 

Canadian Biography of 
John McDonell 

Herbert J. Mays, “McDONELL, JOHN, Le Prêtre (1768-1850),” in Dictionary of Canadian 
Biography, vol. 7, University of Toronto/Université Laval, 2003–, accessed October 27, 
2022  
http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/mcdonell_john_7E.html. 

ALG-40185 1818-05-01 Burial of Cecile 
MacDonell 

Institute Généalogique Drouin, Montreal; Ancestry. ca Quebec, Canada, Vital and 
Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1621-1968 R > Rigaud > Ste-Madeleine > 1818 p. 
15 

ALG-40187 1875-05-23 Burial of Julie Dorion Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; 
Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 58 

ALG-40188 1877-10-11 Burial of Louis Lorion Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; 
Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 83 

ALG-40189 1912-11-23 Death record of Mary 
McCracken 

AOO, Toronto MS 935 Reel 180; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths 
Overseas, 1869-1948 Sudbury > 1912 p. 14 

ALG-40190 1885-10-26 Marriage of Marie Anne 
Dorion and Louis Sirois 

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; 
Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 245 

ALG-40191 1916-11-17 Burial of Caroline Dorion Institut Généalogique Drouin; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Catholic Church Records 
(Drouin Collection), 1802-1967 M > Mattawa > ALL > 1910-1925 p. 164 

ALG-40192 1916-11-15 Death record of Caroline 
Dorion 

AOO MS 935 Reel 222; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths Overseas, 
1869-1948 Nipissing > 1916 p. 50 

ALG-40195 1871-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing 
North > Deux Rivieres p. 1 

ALG-40196 1871-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing 
North > Deux Rivieres p. 3 

ALG-40197 1871-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10025; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Quebec > Pontiac 
North > Lac de Sept Lieues p. 8 
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Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-40198 1891-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6355; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing > 
Mattawa and Papineau p. 14 

ALG-40199 1891-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6355; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing > 
Mattawa and Papineau p. 14 

ALG-40200 1911-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-20326 - T20460; Ancestry.ca 1911 Census of Canada Quebec > 
Pontias > Sub-District 38 p. 19 

ALG-40201 1901-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-6428 to T-6556 Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Quebec > 
Pontiac > Timiskaming p. 30 

ALG-40202 1881-00-00 Census LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Unorganized Territory p. 41 

ALG-40203 2018-00-00 Indigenous Peoples Atlas 
of Canada 

Canadian Geographic. Indigenous Peoples Atlas of Canada. Ottawa: The Royal 
Canadian Geographical Society, 2018. 

ALG-40204 1987-00-00 Fur-Trade Hinterlands Harris, R. Cole, editor. Historical Atlas of Canada: From the Beginning to 1800. 
Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987, plate 57. 

ALG-40205 2022-09-28 
(accessed) 

Biographical Dictionary 
of John McDonell 

Service record of McDonell, John LAC General Collection FC15 C4 No. 22 Item 
33286055472035 Wallace, W. Stewart, "Documents relating to the North West 
Company,” 1934 The Champlain Society, Toronto.  

ALG-40232 1997-06-00 M. Charles de 
Bellefeuille, missionaire 
au Témiscamingue 

Benoist, Alice. "M. Charles de Bellefeuille, missionaire au Témiscamingue." Histoire 
Quebec 3:1 (June 1997): 22-24. 
https://www.erudit.org/fr/revues/hq/1997-v3-n1-hq1057450/11193ac.pdf 

ALG-40233 2022-11-10 
(accessed) 

Canadian Biography of 
Louis-Charles Lefebvre 
de Bellefeuille 

Bruno Harel, “LEFEBVRE DE BELLEFEUILLE, LOUIS-CHARLES,” in Dictionary of Canadian 
Biography, vol. 7, University of Toronto/Université Laval, 2003–, accessed November 
10, 2022, 
http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/lefebvre_de_bellefeuille_louis_charles_7E.html  
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Appendix 4: Supporting Document Package for Cecile Mawishk McDonnell 
 

The documents are organized by ALG document number.  
They appear in the same order as in the list in Appendix 3 and are bookmarked for ease of reference. 



ALG-00089

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Unorganised Territory p. 5-8



ALG-00089

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Unorganised Territory p. 5-8



ALG-00089

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Unorganised Territory p. 5-8



ALG-00089

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Unorganised Territory p. 5-8



ALG-00094

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Unorganised Territory p. 5-8



ALG-00094

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Unorganised Territory p. 5-8



ALG-00094

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Unorganised Territory p. 5-8



ALG-00094

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Unorganised Territory p. 5-8



ALG-00421

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing North > Mattawan North p. 3



ALG-01394

LAC RG 31 T-6484 Province: Ontario District Name: Nipissing (No. 92) Sub-District Name: Mattawan (Town) (No. O1) p. 9



ALG-02110

Institut Généalogique Drouin; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Catholic Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1802-1967 P > Pembroke > Mission > 1839-1842 p. 2



ALG-02110

Institut Généalogique Drouin; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Catholic Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1802-1967 P > Pembroke > Mission > 1839-1842 p. 2



  

 

ALG-02258

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 15



 

ALG-02290

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 28



ALG-02444

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 38



 

ALG-02463

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 46



 

ALG-02476

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 55



 

ALG-02508

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptism, Marriages, and Burials, 
1760-1923 Mattawa > Saint Anne > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; Mattawa; 1860-98 p. 79



ALG-07274

Institute Généalogique Drouin, Montreal; Ancestry. ca Quebec, Canada, Vital and Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1621-1968 M > Maniwaki > ALL > 1843-1899 p. 55



ALG-07288

Institute Généalogique Drouin, Montreal; Ancestry. ca Quebec, Canada, Vital and Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1621-1968 M > Maniwaki > ALL > 1843-1899 p. 31



ALG-07289

Catholic Church. Diocese of Pembroke, (Ontario); www.familysearch.org Registrés paroissiaux, 1836-1842 Film 1703968, DGS 7769217 Image 31



NAME: McDONELL, Allan            PARISH: Scotland (B.134/g)     ENTERED SERVICE: 1821  DATES: b.ca.1778
[Hudson's Bay (B.135/g)]                                                         d.15 June 1859 (B.134/b/17 fo.695)

Appointments & Service 
Outfit Year* Position Post District HBCA Reference 
*An Outfit year ran from 1 June to 31 May
1799 joined XY Company Williams,G., HBC Miscellany,p.167
1804 joined North West Company when it amalgamated with the XY Company Williams,G., HBC Miscellany,p.167
1804, 1806-1807 Clerk Fort Dauphin Masson, Les bourgeois,Vol.1,p.404;

Wallace,W.Stewart, Docs of  NW Co.,p.220
1818 arrested by Lord Selkirk and tried at York [Toronto] Amos, Report of trials, p.31
1819-1820 In charge Carlton House B.51/e/1,fo.19
1821 joined Hudson's Bay Company as Chief Trader A.31/2,fo.4
1821-1823 Chief Trader in charge Swan River House Swan River B.213/d/11,p.50;B.239/k/1,p.7,15

of District 
1823, July appointed Chief Trader i/c Hay River Athabasca B.239/k/1,p.43,46
1823,July granted leave of absence due to ill health B.239/k/1,p.65
1823,Dec.-1824 Chief Trader Qu'Appelle (Beaver Creek) Upper Red River B.22/d/12,fo.5;D.4/3,p.91,107
1824-1826 Chief Trader i/c of District Fort Pelly Swan River B.239/k/1,p.76,86,121
1826-1827 Chief Trader i/c of District [Temiscamingue] Temiscamingue B.239/k/1,p.165; D.4/15,p.188
1827-1828 Chief Trader i/c of District Temiscamingue Temiscamingue B.134/g/6,p.6
*1828-1834 Chief Factor i/c of District Temiscamingue Temiscamingue A.1/56 fo.19; B.135/g/14 fo.22;

B.135/g/16 fo.22; B.135/k/1 p.104,117;
D.4/92 p.14; D.5/3 fo.33

1833,20 August tenders resignation, ill health, effective end of Outfit 34 A.6/23,p.95
1834-1835 Ch.Factor A.McDonnel or Rupert's River Rupert's River B.135/k/1,p.128

Ch.Factor J.Beioley appointed in charge 
1835-1837 Chief Factor i/c of District Fort Frances Lac La Pluie B.239/k/2,p.91,134
1837-1838 Chief Factor i/c of District Fort Alexander Lac La Pluie B.239/k/2,p.160
1838-1839 on leave due to ill health B.129/a/19,fo.6,7,19d; D.4/23,p.88;

D.4/25,p.27
1839-1841 Chief Factor i/c of District Fort Frances Lac La Pluie B.239/k/2,p.182,203
1840,1 March instructed to relieve Ch.Factor Finlayson at Red River,Summer 1840 D.4/25,p.140
1841-1842 on furlough B.239/k/2,p.217
1842-1843 leave of absence B.239/k/2,p.247
1843,1 June retired with Mrs. McDonell,a native woman,to Lundy Cottage,Montreal A.31/3,p.4;D.5/12,fo.64d

ARCHIVES
WINNIPEG

1848-1856 corresponded with Sir George Simpson D.5/22-D.5/42
1852 Simpson arranged for him to have his eye operated on in England D.5/34,fos.136,397

*appears in Simpson's Character Book (A.34/2)
Filename: M’Donell, Allan (1778-1859) (fl. XY, NWC, HBC 1799-1840) (cont’d)

ALG-20745

Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet for Allan McDonell; 1999; PAM, HBCA, McDonell, Allan. 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/biographical/mc/mcdonell_allan.pdf



Family
Brother: Hon. John McDonell, Detroit (D.4/22,fo.71) 
Wife: Margaret [reputed wife], a native woman, baptized by Rev. David T. Jones 8 December 1833 (E.4/1,fo.105d) 

1835, 12 January reported to be interested in "Miss Cock Eye McGillis" as a wife (B.135/c/2,fo.141) but they apparently did not
marry as he left a bequest to Miss Mary McGillis, Williamstown, U.C. (B.134/b/17,fo.675) 

Son: Alexander McDonell joined the Hudson's Bay Company 14 July 1826 (A.32/40,fo.259) 
Daughters: Sophia (1811-1835) married John Livingston 18 December 1834 and Margaret (1825-1835) died while boarding with Rev. David

T. Jones (P.A.M., St. John's parish records;de P.Glazebrook,G., Hargrave Correspondence,p.207)
1836 Mother and two daughters boarding at Red River, placed there by Sir George Simpson (P.A.M.,MG2 A6,fo.105)
1852 son John was in prison and his father arranged passage for him to Australia (D.5/34,p.185)

In correspondence relating to his will (B.134/b/17,fo.109) three sons are mentioned: Angus C., Allan and John as well as a daughter who was living with her 
mother (B.134/b/17,fo.109).  A copy of the will can be obtained from Archives Nationales du Quebec, l945 rue Mullins, Montreal PQ, H3K lN9: depose 
redige No.8687, Greffe, Etienne Guy 

See also -  Search File: "McDonell, Allan" 

Filename: M’Donell.Allan  (1778-1859) (fl. XY, NWC, HBC 1799-1840);   ES: wg  December 1986  ; April/99/mhd 

ARCHIVES
WINNIPEG

ALG-20745

Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet for Allan McDonell; 1999; PAM, HBCA, McDonell, Allan. 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/biographical/mc/mcdonell_allan.pdf



NAME: LAURION, Narcisse       PARISH: Point des Trembles (Montreal)     ENTERED SERVICE: 1830 DATES: (fl.1830-1840) (b. c.1806) 

Appointments & Service 
Outfit Year*: Position: Post: District: HBCA Reference: 
*An Outfit year ran from 1 June to 31 May

1830, June 16 Signed a three year contract at Norway House B.239/u/1, #1127
1830-1831 Middleman Fret Establishment at Norway House B.239/g/10
1831-1833 Middleman Norway House B.239/g/11-12
1834, July 17 Returned to Montreal B.239/u/1, #1127
1835-1837 Labourer Matawin Fort Coulonge B.134/g/10-11
1837-1840 Labourer Lac des Allumettes Fort Coulonge B.134/g/12-14

Filename: Laurion, Narcisse (fl.1830-1840);  CE 2007/07 

ARCHIVES
WINNIPEG

ALG-22370

Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet for Narcisse Laurion; 1999; PAM, HBCA, Laurion, Narcisse.
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/biographical/l/laurion_narcisse1830-1840.pdf



ALG-22371

Catholic Church. Diocese of Pembroke, (Ontario); www.familysearch.org Registrés paroissiaux, 1836-1842 Film 1703968, DGS 7769217 Image 15



ALG-22373

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1091 ; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > Algoma p.135
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ALG-22373

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1091 ; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > Algoma p.135



ALG-22375

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1091 ; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > Algoma p.133



ALG-22377

Institut Généalogique Drouin; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Catholic Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1802-1967 M > Mattawa > ALL > 1860-1875 p. 25



ALG-22378

Institut Généalogique Drouin; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Catholic Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1802-1967 M > Mattawa > ALL > 1860-1875 p. 49



ALG-22384

Institut Généalogique Drouin; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Catholic Church Records (Drouin Collection), 1802-1967 M > Mattawa > ALL > 1885-1890 p. 75



ALG-22385

AOO, Toronto Registrations of Marriages, 1869-1925 Reel 59; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Marriages, 1826-1938 Nipissing > 1888 p. 26



ALG-22387

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6355; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing > Mattawa p. 21



ALG-22391

AOO, Toronto Registrations of Marriages, 1869-1982 Reel 88; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Marriages, 1826-1938 Nipissing > 1896 p. 40



ALG-22393

LAC RG 31 Reel T-6484.; Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing > Papineau p. 2



ALG-22415

LAC RG 31-C-1 Folder No:130 Census Place:130 Pontiac-Temiscamingue-Abitibi, Quebec Page No:29; Ancestry.ca 1921 Census Quebec > Pontiac-Temiscamingue-Abitibi > Sub-District 54 - Temiskaming, Gaudreau Gendron p. 30



ALG-22423

AOO, Toronto MS 935, Reel 280; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths Overseas, 1869-1948 Nipissing > 1921 p. 75



ALG-40100

Roman Catholic Diocese of Pembroke, Archives, Missionary Correspondence. Petition des 'sauvages de Mattawa'. 3 September 1865



ALG-40100

Roman Catholic Diocese of Pembroke, Archives, Missionary Correspondence. Petition des 'sauvages de Mattawa'. 3 September 1865



ALG-40100

Roman Catholic Diocese of Pembroke, Archives, Missionary Correspondence. Petition des 'sauvages de Mattawa'. 3 September 1865



ALG-40100

Roman Catholic Diocese of Pembroke, Archives, Missionary Correspondence. Petition des 'sauvages de Mattawa'. 3 September 1865



ALG-40105

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235 Province: Ontario; District Name: Renfrew North (No. 114); Sub-District Name: Unorganized Territory (No. M); p. 8



ALG-40112

Mitchell, Elaine A. Fort Timiskaming and the Fur Trade. Toronto: Univ. of Toronto Press, 1977



ALG-40112

Mitchell, Elaine A. Fort Timiskaming and the Fur Trade. Toronto: Univ. of Toronto Press, 1977



ALG-40112

Mitchell, Elaine A. Fort Timiskaming and the Fur Trade. Toronto: Univ. of Toronto Press, 1977



ALG-40112

Mitchell, Elaine A. Fort Timiskaming and the Fur Trade. Toronto: Univ. of Toronto Press, 1977



ALG-40112

Mitchell, Elaine A. Fort Timiskaming and the Fur Trade. Toronto: Univ. of Toronto Press, 1977



ALG-40112

Mitchell, Elaine A. Fort Timiskaming and the Fur Trade. Toronto: Univ. of Toronto Press, 1977



ALG-40112

Mitchell, Elaine A. Fort Timiskaming and the Fur Trade. Toronto: Univ. of Toronto Press, 1977



ALG-40015

Service record of MacDonell, Allan LAC General Collection FC15 C4 No. 22 Item 33286055472035 Wallace, W. Stewart, "Documents relating to the North West Company", 1934 The Champlain Society, Toronto



ALG-40015

Service record of MacDonell, Allan LAC General Collection FC15 C4 No. 22 Item 33286055472035 Wallace, W. Stewart, "Documents relating to the North West Company", 1934 The Champlain Society, Toronto



ALG-40015

Service record of MacDonell, Allan LAC General Collection FC15 C4 No. 22 Item 33286055472035 Wallace, W. Stewart, "Documents relating to the North West Company", 1934 The Champlain Society, Toronto



ALG-40015

Service record of MacDonell, Allan LAC General Collection FC15 C4 No. 22 Item 33286055472035 Wallace, W. Stewart, "Documents relating to the North West Company", 1934 The Champlain Society, Toronto



ALG-40015

Service record of MacDonell, Allan LAC General Collection FC15 C4 No. 22 Item 33286055472035 Wallace, W. Stewart, "Documents relating to the North West Company", 1934 The Champlain Society, Toronto



ALG-40015

Service record of MacDonell, Allan LAC General Collection FC15 C4 No. 22 Item 33286055472035 Wallace, W. Stewart, "Documents relating to the North West Company", 1934 The Champlain Society, Toronto



McDONELL, ALLAN, fur trader and politician; b. c. 1776 probably in Glen Garry
(Highland), Scotland, son of Donald MacDonell, seventh of Lundie, and his third wife, a
Miss MacDonald of Islay; d. 16 June 1859 in Montreal.

Having lost his ancestral lands through impoverishment, Donald MacDonell immigrated
to British North America with his family and settled at Martintown, Upper Canada. In
February 1799 Allan, who signed his name McDonell, joined the Montreal fur-trading firm of
Forsyth, Richardson and Company [see John Forsyth*; John Richardson*] as an apprentice
clerk and was sent to the northwest. This firm was one of the partners in the New North West
Company (sometimes called the XY Company), which was competing with the North West
Company. After the union of these two companies in 1804 [see Sir Alexander Mackenzie*],
McDonell served as clerk in the expanded NWC at Fort Dauphin (Man.) on Lake Dauphin,
and two years later he accompanied the Nor’Westers Alexander Henry* the younger and
Charles Chaboillez* on their expedition to the Mandan villages on the upper Missouri River.
During the years of conflict between the NWC and the Hudson’s Bay Company, he remained
in the Fort Dauphin and Red River departments, becoming an NWC partner in 1816. In June
of that year he was in the Red River area and was listed by HBC officer Peter Fidler* as one of
the NWC men “looking on” while the group of Métis led by Cuthbert Grant ransacked the
HBC’s Brandon House. Later that summer he was one of the NWC partners arrested by
Lord Selkirk [Douglas*] at Fort William (Thunder Bay, Ont.) as accessories to the murder of
Governor Robert Semple*, who had been killed with about 20 Red River colonists in a battle
with Grant’s men at Seven Oaks (Winnipeg) on 19 June. On 22 Oct. 1818, with 13 others, he
was indicted by the grand jury at York (Toronto), but he and several others were never tried,
apparently not being in custody. He does not seem to have been actively involved in the
events at Seven Oaks, although the testimony of one witness, John Palmer Bourke, implied
that he had a reputation for violence.

When the HBC absorbed the NWC in 1821 [see Simon McGillivray*], McDonell was made
chief trader and placed in charge of the Swan River district at Fort Dauphin. One of the
principal functions of this district was the collection and transport of provisions such as salt,
sugar, and pemmican for the more remote northwestern posts. Each spring McDonell
conducted these supplies down the Assiniboine River and up to Norway House (Man.). He
did not take advantage of the furlough granted to him in 1823 and stayed in the Swan River
district until 1826, when the Council of the Northern Department posted him to the
Timiskaming district. Initially he shared the management of this district with Chief Trader
Angus Cameron*; in 1827 he became sole commander and a year later he was promoted chief
factor.

By 1834 HBC governor George S  was dissatisfied with McDonell’s handling of his
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Elaine Allan Mitchell, “McDONELL, ALLAN,” in Dictionary of Canadian Biography, vol. 8, University of Toronto/Université Laval, 2003–, accessed October 18, 2022
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men and the Indians, and his methods for dealing with the independent traders who were
moving into the area. McDonell was therefore granted a year’s furlough and was replaced by
Cameron. In 1835 he was appointed to the Rainy Lake district; he stayed there until 1841
when he was allowed two years’ furlough before officially retiring in 1843. While at Rainy
Lake he had been appointed to the Council of Assiniboia on 20 March 1839.

After retirement from the HBC, McDonell settled on the mountain in Montreal with his
wife and family. McDonell’s wife, who was baptized Margaret at Red River in 1833, was the
daughter of Æneas Cameron* of Timiskaming. Their house, Lundy Cottage, which overlooked
the ruins of Simon McTavish*’s unfinished residence, was described by another retired fur
trader, George K , as “a splendid mansion, with a valuable altho small lot of land
attached” and with “elegant accomodations and furniture.” With Peter Warren Dease*,
J  C , and others, McDonell was among those retired ex-Nor’Westers whom
Simpson deplored as “sauntering through the streets of Montreal & smoking away the
remainder of the day in Sword’s Barroom.” Yet, although Angus Cameron’s nephew Angus
Cameron, a banker, did not consider McDonell’s means well invested, being mostly in railway
stock, he told his uncle that McDonell managed his affairs very economically. By 1848
McDonell was almost blind from cataracts, and two operations, in Montreal in 1851 and in
London in 1852, did little to help. Nevertheless, in 1855 the younger Angus Cameron noted
that he was still able to “see and tell the colours of brandy & Water from pure water.” He died
in Montreal at the age of 83 and was buried in the Roman Catholic cemetery Notre-Dame-
des-Neiges on 18 June 1859.

The McDonells had at least seven children and Mrs McDonell was still living in Montreal
in 1876. Governor Simpson characterized McDonell in 1832 as “a good rather than a clever
fellow” and this opinion seems to have been shared by his other friends who, again like
Simpson, also appreciated his kindness, generosity, and wit. He acquitted himself creditably
in the Northern Department, where he spent most of his career, but had less success in
Timiskaming with its largely Canadian servants and rapidly increasing opposition from
Canada. Although deficient in education himself, he did his best for his children, one of
whom, Angus, was educated to be a doctor, and another, John, became a Jesuit. Former
colleagues as well as young Angus Cameron all spoke of him with affection, and Chief Factor
Cameron nicknamed him “Sir Allan,” perhaps a compliment to his Highland lineage.

E  A  M

Æneas and Angus Cameron papers are in the possession of E. A. Mitchell of Toronto (mfm. at AO).
ANQ-M, CN1-29, 5 févr. 1799. Glengarry Geneal. Soc. (Lancaster, Ont.), E. A. Mitchell, “An aspect of
one branch line of the Macdonells of Lundie.” Les bourgeois de la Compagnie du Nord-Ouest
(Masson), vol.1. Docs. relating to NWC (Wallace). Hargrave, Hargrave corr. (Glazebrook). HBRS, 2

Biography – McDONELL, ALLAN – Volume VIII (1851-1860) – Diction... http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/mcdonell_allan_8E.html?print=1

2 of 4 28/09/2022, 1:54 p.m.

ALG-40121

Elaine Allan Mitchell, “McDONELL, ALLAN,” in Dictionary of Canadian Biography, vol. 8, University of Toronto/Université Laval, 2003–, accessed October 18, 2022
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(Rich and Fleming); 3 (Fleming). Report of the proceedings connected with the disputes between
the Earl of Selkirk and the North-West Company at the assizes, held at York, in Upper Canada,
October 1818, from minutes taken in court (Montreal, 1819). Report of trials in the courts of
Canada, relative to the destruction of the Earl of Selkirk’s settlement on the Red River; with
observations, ed. Andrew Amos (London, 1820). Simpson, “Character book,” HBRS, 30 (Williams),
151–236. J. A. Macdonell, Sketches illustrating the early settlement and history of Glengarry in
Canada, relating principally to the Revolutionary War of 1775–83, the War of 1812–14 and the
rebellion of 1837–8 . . . (Montreal, 1893). E. A. Mitchell, Fort Timiskaming and the fur trade
(Toronto and Buffalo, N.Y., 1977).
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[Top right margin] 
1865/09/03 
 

Mattawa 3 de September 65 
 
To His Highness My Lord 
We Indians of Mattawa take the liberty of imploring your kindness to grant us a request that we 
are going to make to him. 
My Lord, we want to ask you for one more mission than we usually have. This mission we 
wanted to have [by] the 15th of June, our reason for doing so, My Lord, is that by that time we 
will be able to pay the [support] of our fathers. It is precisely around this time that we come out 
of the woods, but the August mission, as we have every year, we find it impossible to have a 
single penny, and so, My Lord, it is no longer as it was in the past, we cannot have provisions to 
wait for [from] the moment we come down until the month of August, the company no longer 
[wants] to advance us anything, and well, My Lord, by having the mission around the fifteenth of 
June, we do not lack anything and then after the mission we go back into the woods to find our 
life there. 
 
Then also our families will not have so many chances to be [lost] by the bad companies. 
 
Now, My Lord, we would like to have a second mission around the first of September, so we can 
all come down for this mission and do a little more for our Fathers. Then go back to the woods 
for the winter. Our little Church, My Lord, [illegible] a lot we have done a lot of repairs this 
spring and also, My Lord, we hope that next spring we will have our well [illegible] of all that is 
necessary to say the holy mass, our good Fathers will no longer have the trouble of carrying 
their chapel around. Everything has changed here, My Lord, the most [illegible] of Mattawa are 
now Catholics like us. If your goodness, My Lord, grants our request, we will be very grateful to 
you. We will have a special canoe for the Church to transport the Fathers. My Lord, grant us this 
favor for next summer and you will be able to judge by the report of our good Fathers if we have 
done our duty. 
 
My Lord, many Indians cannot attend the holy services because they are too far away, and most 
of the time they do not know exactly when the Fathers will come. 
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But My Lord, if you grant our request, tell us when we will have our missions so that we can let 
all our companions know, we all [have hope] in you My Lord, we will be happy to know the 
answer before we go up which will be around the 20th of this month. 
 
If you send us an answer, you will address your letter as follows 
[Temmons] & [Ouellet] 
 
For the Indians  Mattawa 
[illegible] 
 
Well, My Lord, while hoping for your kindness we remain your grateful children. 
 
Amable Dupond  Father 
[Jeanborne] Dupond 
Antoine Simagakwit 
Pierre Mikmak 
Antoine Simon 
Gros Louis 
Aimable Dupond Son 
[Jeanborne] [Patakwaben] 
Francois Dupond 
[Moisi] [Michigikwan] 
Jacob Pacosigan 
Ignace Dupond 
Francois [Jako] 
Jacinthe St Denis 
Antoine [Cotou] 
Jean Baptiste [Regikizick] 
Jako [Cochin] 
St Pierre [Minichikakwens] 
John McDonnell 
Narcisse [Lorion] 
Joseph Langevins 
Narcisse Gatton 
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Thomas Delisle 
Simon [Slobenensi] 
Bazil Dupond 
Joseph [Michikakwa] 
Tanisor Langevins 
Louison Dupond 
[Jeanbach] Antoine 
Joe Lariviere 
Jean Simon 
Ignace Baskins 
Alexain Antoine 
Francois Antoine 
Bernard 
Alexandre Dupond 
John Langevins 
Louison Cochins 
John Dorion 
Alexandre Dorion 
Antoine [Illisible] 
Simon [Illisible] 
Alexandre Langevins 
Joseph [Jeanborne] 
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[Marge en haut à droite] 
1865/09/03 
 

Mattawa 3 de Septembre 65 
 
A Sa Grandeur Monseigneur 
Nous Sauvages du Mattawa prenons la liberté d’implorer votre bonté afin qu’elle nous accorde 
une demande que nous allons lui faire. 
Monseigneur, nous voulons vous demander une mission de plus que nous en avons à l’ordinaire. 
Cette mission nous désirions l’avoir [vers] le 15 de Juin notre raison pour cela Monseigneur et 
que vers ce temps, nous sommes en moyen de payer le [support] de nos pères. C’est justement 
vers ce temps que nous sortons des bois, mais la mission d’août comme nous avons chaque 
année nous nous trouvons dans l’impossibilité d’avoir un seul sou puis aussi Monseigneur, ce 
n’est plus comme autrefois nous ne pouvons avoir de provisions pour attendre [depuis] le 
moment que nous [désandons] [sic] jusqu’au mois d’août la compagny [sic] ne [veut] plus rien 
nous avancer, et bien Monseigneur en ayant la mission vers le quinze de juin nous ne manquons 
de rien et puis après la mission nous remontrons dans les bois afin d’y trouver notre vie. 
 
Puis aussi nos familles n’auront pas tant de chances à se [perdre] par les mauvaises compagnies. 
 
Maintenant Monseigneur nous voudrions avoir une seconde mission vers le premier de 
septembre alors nous pouvons tous désendre [sic] pour cette mission et faire encore un peu 
pour nos Pères. Puis ensuite remonter dans les bois pour l’hiver. 
 
Notre petite Église Monseigneur [illisible] beaucoup nous avons fait beaucoup de réparations ce 
printemps et aussi Monseigneur nous espérons que le printemps prochain nous aurons notre 
bien [illisible] de tout ce qu’il faut pour dire la Ste messe nos bons Pères n’aurons plus le trouble 
de trimbaler leur chapelle tout est bien changé ici Monseigneur les plus [illisible] du Mattawa 
maintenant sont catholiques comme nous. Si votre bonté Monseigneur nous accorde notre 
demande nous vous en serons très reconnaissants, nous aurons un canot exprès pour l’Église 
pour transporter les Pères. Monseigneur accordez-nous cette faveur pour l’été prochain et vous 
pourrez juger par le rapport de nos bons Pères si nous avons fait notre devoir. 
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Monseigneur beaucoup de Sauvages ne peuvent assister aux Saints offices parce qu’ils trop 
éloignés, et la plupart du temps ils ne savent pas exactement en quel temps les Pères doivent 
venir. 
 
Mais Monseigneur si vous nous accorder notre demande, dites-nous en quel temps nous aurons 
nos missions afin que nous le laissions savoir à tous nos compères, nous [espérons] tous en vous 
Monseigneur nous serons heureux de savoir la réponse avant que nous montions qui sera vers 
le 20 du courant. 
 
Si vous nous envoyez la réponse vous addresserez [sic] votre lettre comme ceci 
[Temmons] & [Ouellet] 
 
Pour les Sauvages Mattawa 
[illisible] 
 
Et bien Monseigneur tout en espérant de votre bonté nous demeurons vos enfants 
reconnaissants. 
 
Amable Dupond  Père 
[Jeanborne] Dupond 
Antoine Simagakwit 
Pierre Mikmak 
Antoine Simon 
Gros Louis 
Aimable Dupond fils 
[Jeanborne] [Patakwaben] 
Francois Dupond 
[Moisi] [Michigikwan] 
Jacob Pacosigan 
Ignace Dupond 
Francois [Jako] 
Jacinthe St Denis 
Antoine [Cotou] 
Jean Baptiste [Regikizick] 
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Jako [Cochin] 
St Pierre [Minichikakwens] 
John McDonnell 
Narcisse [Lorion] 
Joseph Langevins 
Narcisse Gatton 
Thomas Delisle 
Simon [Slobenensi] 
Bazil Dupond 
Joseph [Michikakwa] 
Tanisor Langevins 
Louison Dupond 
[Jeanbach] Antoine 
Joe Lariviere 
Jean Simon 
Ignace Baskins 
Alexain Antoine 
Francois Antoine 
Bernard 
Alexandre Dupond 
John Langevins 
Louison Cochins 
John Dorion 
Alexandre Dorion 
Antoine [Illisible] 
Simon [Illisible] 
Alexandre Langevins 
Joseph [Jeanborne] 
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Of the Macdonells prominent in the West at this time, there were, for instance,1

Alexander – opponent of Miles at Red River and a Nor'Wester; Alexander –
sheriff under Semple, later the 5th. Governor of Assinoboia, known as the
‘Grasshopper Governor’; Aeneas – a clerk in the N. W. Company, killed in
1809; Allan – who took a prominent part in the Selkirk troubles. There was also
an Alexander McDonell who was Selkirk’s agent at Baldoon and three John
McDonalds who played conspicuous roles in the fur trade. For brief biographies
of most of these cf. Wallace (ed.) Documents Relating to the North Vest
Company; Champlain Society Publications XXII, Appendix A, pp. 463-466.
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CCHA, Report, 16 (1949), 71-82

The Macdonell Family in the West

by

THE REV. VINCENT JENSEN, SJ., MA.

This paper is concerned with the highlights in the careers of two

English-speaking Catholic pioneers in the North-West, from a family which

left its mark on the history of the church in Canada. To sort out the

Macdonells who settled in the North-West or who were engaged in the

fur-trade, whether with the Hudson’s Bay or North-West Company, is a

difficult and rather tortuous business.  Our concern is with two brothers,1

John and Miles, sons of Spanish John Macdonell, staunch Jacobite and

Catholic, United Empire Loyalist and pioneer frontiersman of Glengarry.

John, the elder of the two spent some twenty-two years with the North-West

Company, holding positions of importance at various posts in the

North-West, before selling out his interests in the company and settling at

Pointe Fortune along the Ottawa River where he kept a store and ran boats

to Montreal. The younger, Miles, was the first governor of Assiniboia,

Selkirk’s settlement, and had a meteoric, troublesome and controversial

career in the West. He was, I think, not an altogether happy choice for

governor and certainly the hopes and dreams he had for the Red River

Settlement were far from realized in his day and for many a day to come. He

had his moments of glory but they were few indeed, and while his

contribution to the history of the West was noteworthy, his personal returns

were slight. Neither of the two men received their just due from

contemporaries and for that matter even among modern historians. Miles in

particular has not had a good press.

The Macdonells were a close-knit family and, fortunately for the

historian, carried on a considerable correspondence with one another. They

were, too, in constant contact with men such as the Earl of Selkirk, Sir

Alexander Mackenzie, the McGillvarys, McTavishes and others who did so

much to explore, exploit and develop the North-West. The patriarch of the
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Canadian Historical, Review, June 1929, v. X, pp. 212-235; A Canadian2

Pioneer: Spanish John. Father Morice had in his possession the Macdonell
Family papers which have since been returned. Quotations from the memoirs of
Spanish John and from the letters of Bishop Macdonell are from this article or
from the succeeding one published in C.H.R., Sept. 1929, v. X, pp. 308-322.
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family was that strangely forgotten figure known by the nickname of Spanish

John. Father Morice, in an article in the Canadian Historical Review,

rescued him from undeserved oblivion.  Since he was the heart and soul of2

the Macdonell family, the bond uniting them, and since his character and

career had great influence on the lives of his sons, it is worth recapitulating

briefly the story of his life.

Spanish John was born at Crowlin, in Scotland, in 1728. At the age of

twelve he went to Rome and began his studies at the Scots College, but three

years later, hearing that Charles Stuart, the Pretender, had fled to France and

was laying claim to the throne of his ancestors, John decided to fight for the

cause of Bonnie Prince Charlie. He enlisted in the Spanish Army, then allied

with France against Great Britain and Austria. After participating in several

campaigns, winning distinction on the battle field and being seriously

wounded, he was elevated to the rank of Lieutenant Commander at the age

of eighteen. He was entrusted with the task of acting as confidential

messenger from the Duke of York to his brother and was given 1500 pounds

sterling in gold to carry to the Pretender. Unfortunately he was robbed of

1000 guineas on the way and when he landed in Scotland he found that the

day he had set sail from Dunkirk was the day of the battle of Culloden which

sounded the death knell of the Pretender’s cause. He found, too, that many

of his relatives and clansmen had been killed in that engagement. He

succeeded in delivering his messages and the remainder of the money to

Prince Charles Stuart. Though it is doubtful if he helped the latter to escape,

there is no doubt of his sentiments. “To the eternal glory of my countrymen,”

he wrote in his autobiography towards the close of his life, “they despised the

alluring reward of 30,000 pounds sterling and, though vanquished in battle,

saved him from his inveterate enemies.” Spanish John accepted the

inevitable without overt complaint and was, as far as can be ascertained a

faithful subject of the Hanoverians. He abandoned his military career, settled

down and married a girl whose father had been killed at Culloden and whose

name was likewise Macdonell. He lived, as he wrote in his memoirs, “a most

happy life for a number of years on his property.” But though he had beaten

his sword into a ploughshare, he was not too satisfied with the exchange. “At

last,” he confessed, “my disposition, given rather to roving, induced me to

leave my native country and come to this great continent of America.” He

emigrated in 1773 and settled in the Mohawk Valley, but during the

American War of Independence he was a Tory and fought for Great Britain.

He finally settled as a United Empire Loyalist some time in the year 1782
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along the banks of the river known in the Macdonell correspondence as the

River aux Raisins, close to Cornwall, at a place that is now known as South

Lancaster. He had the usual problems and difficulties of a pioneer settler in

Upper Canada, which he met with his usual light-hearted buoyancy, but it

seems true that his career as a farmer and colonist was not nearly as

successful as had been his soldiering.

As his family scattered, Spanish John lived alone and independent, but

kept in close touch with them all. There is one amusing incident in his later

life that deserves recording. Apparently there was some gossip about his

attentions to a widow who lived in the neighbourhood. His sons were quite

worried, fearing that the old soldier – he was then 76 – living alone would

be fair game for an attractive widow or as Miles called her “that cursed artful

widow.” But Spanish John was made of sterner stuff, for he wrote in 1804 to

John: “As to the report spread to my disadvantage concerning Donald

McAlistir relick, I thought, though your mentioned it to me, that you had

heard of it long ago. It commenced at least five years ago, owing at first to

my going frequently to her house to pass an idle hour... I thought it no harm

to shew her some little attention to her more than to the vulgar of the place.

But I assure you as to matrimony with her or any other, I shall change my

mind before I can think of it.” Change his mind he did not, for he died still

single, on Palm Sunday 1810. His last letter to John, then in the North-West

reads: “I wish to God that you could soon be quitt of that Antichristian

country and come to live among us... Longing very much for your presence

and recommending you to the care of Almighty God.”

Spanish John had three sons and two daughters. Of the sons, William,

the youngest, apparently lacked the ambition of his brothers and Spanish

John sent him to Boston. He explained to John in 1796: “You know his

indolence and easiness which induced me to send him among a people

naturally aspiring, sharp and cunning. As he really did not seem to want both

parts and sense I was very willing to have him in a place where his dormant

spirits and parts must be roused. What the consequence may be I cannot

determine.” The consequence turned out very well, for William was quite

successful at the Customs Department in Boston. Leaving William at the

counting table of The Hub and the two daughters to domestic bliss, let us

turn our attention to the two older brothers.

John Macdonell was born in Scotland on November 30, 1768. He came

to America with his father and after the American Revolution settled with

the rest of the family near Cornwall. In 1788 he received a commission as

ensign in the militia battalion of Cornwall and Osnabruck, but soon left the

army and entered the service of the North-West Company as a commis or

clerk. The practice of the company was for young men of ability to work up

from clerk to chief trader to winter partner. John was certainly a clerk in the

Upper Red River Department in 1793 and his name is to be found in 1797
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in the Company documents as a winter partner with two shares. Promotion

for him was rapid and he held positions of responsibility in the Company

until his retirement.

All N.W. clerks were expected to keep a journal, a sort of diary of

events, and John Macdonell’s journal for the years 1793-96 has been

published by Masson as being typical of life at the fur trading posts.  It is,3

perhaps, not particularly interesting but a few extracts may serve to show the

workings of the trade and some of the problems of the men on the front line

of Canada’s first big business.

Oct. 11 (1793) – arrived at the fort of the river Qui Appelle, called by

Mr. Grant when he built it, Fort Espérance. About sixty lodges of Indians at

the fort, chiefly Crees.

Oct. 15 – gave the Crees some credits – they were drunk and

troublesome all night.

Oct. 19 – Seventeen warriors came from the banks of the Missouri for

tobacco. They slept ten nights on the way and are emissaries from a party of

Assinibouans who went to war upon the Scioux.

Oct. 20 – The warriors traded a few skins brought upon their backs, and

went off ill-pleased with their reception. After dark, the dogs kept a constant

barking which induced a belief that some of the warriors were lurking about

the fort for an opportunity to steal. I took a sword and pistol and went to

sleep in the store. Nothing took place...

Nov. 30 – St. Andrew’s day. Hoisted a flag in honour of the titular saint

of Scotland. A beautiful day...

1795 March 24 – Le Grand Diable arrived and made me a present of six

buffalo robes and 10 wolves – gave him in return, a large keg and chief’s

clothing in compensation of his bringing and sending his band to trade here

all winter and in recompense for his giving the fort a good name...

March 26 – Le Grand Diable went away after making me a tender of his

wife’s favours and seemed surprised and chagrined at my refusal, but the

lady much more so, and I thought it prudent to make her some trifling

presents to pacify her.4

So the Journal runs on with its tale of various tribes and Indians, of the

barter and trade, of the journeys made, of canoes sent out, of chasing the

buffalo. And it was a fiercely competitive trade, for John remarks “there were

five different oppositions built here last winter, all working against one

another.”

In 1799 John was placed in charge of the Upper Red River Department

and was there almost continuously until 1808. It was one of the most
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lucrative parts of the Norwesters’ trade and a post of responsibility. His

successor, McDonald of Garth wrote in his autobiography, “it was decided

in council at Fort William that I should take charge of the Red River

Department, my namesake, Big McDonell retiring – a most powerful man

who however did not command his men as he ought, an easy man of no

exertion.  However accurate McDonald of Garth was in his estimate of John5

Macdonell’s character, he had to admit that the Upper Red River ‘had a set

of the worst men in the employ’ and that they took considerable handling.

The fact remains, too, that the Athabaska Department to which John was

transferred was at this time even more important to the Nor’ Westers,

because the Hudson’s Bay Company was beginning to challenge seriously

their claim to pre-eminence in that region. From his own men John received

the nickname of Le Prêtre, “owing,” says a contemporary, “to the rigid

manner in which he made his men adhere to the various feasts of the

Catholic Church – a proof of orthodoxy with which the majority of them

would have gladly dispensed.”  He was in the Athabaska Department until6

his retirement and for the greater part of the time was in charge of the post

on the English River. Perhaps the best proof of the amount of travelling he

did in the West is the enumeration of the various places where his children

were born. His oldest son was born at the post on the Souris River in 1798;

two children at Fort Espérance in the Qu’Appelle Valley; one at the Lake St.

Claire post in Athabasca; one at Isle à la Crosse and the last at Lesser Slave

Lake in January 1812. His wife was Magdaleine Poitras, daughter of a trader

at Qu’Appelle. He married her according to the custom of the country, but

had his marriage ratified by a priest when he went East on rotation.

Holding two shares in the North-West Company and being a winter

partner must have brought lucrative returns to John. Between the years 1787

and 1795 the North-West Company flourished to such an extent that a

number of winter partners were able to retire in affluence, some to estates in

Scotland, others to seignories in Lower Canada. During this period the

Norwesters met with almost no opposition, but about 1797 rivalry of a

formidable character developed from Canada and a bitter trade war was

carried on with serious financial repercussions. Competition reduced the

profits of the fur-trade to such an extent that both the North-West Company

and the New North-West Company were losing money. The Indians were

being debauched and important furbearing areas were showing signs of

exhaustion. But in spite of all this, John Macdonell is shown in the statement

of the finances of the North-West Company for the year 1799 as having to

ALG-40167

CCHA, Report, 16 (1949), 71-82 Rev. Vincent Jensen, SJ, MA "The Macdonell Family in the West."
http://www.cchahistory.ca/journal/CCHA1949/Jensen.pdf Accessed 2022-10-25



Wallace, (ed.), Documents Relating to the North West Company, 106. For7

further facts and figures about the extent of the fur trade in Canada, cf.
Davidson, The North West Company, University of California Press, 1918.
Appendices C, D, E, I, J, Q, S.

Willson Beckles, The Great Company, II, 118, London, 1900.8

— 76 —

his credit 2736£ 13s. 4d.  In 1804 the two companies were united and the7

decade which followed saw the North-West Company's greatest period of

expansion and success. During that time the Company crushed with ruthless

efficiency all competition from Canada. Free traders and interlopers were

discouraged by means which, if not actually illegal, verged closely on

illegality. The methods were quite unscrupulous and perhaps McDonald of

Garth’s estimate of John as an ‘easy man of no exertion’ may have been due

to the fact that the methods of the Norwesters did not square easily with

Macdonell’s conscience. Willson Beckles, in his history of the Hudson’s Bay

Company, claims that John Macdonell was removed from his post ‘because

he was not inclined to set all principles of law and justice at defiance.’  John8

retired from active service in 1812 and sold his shares in 1815. The rising

bitterness of the conflict with the Hudson’s Bay Company and the fact that

his brother Miles was so closely involved must have influenced his decision

to retire and sell his stock.

During all these years John was the financial mainstay of the Macdonell

family in Glengarry. His generosity was boundless and apparently advantage

was frequently taken of it. His father warned him – while at the same time

soliciting a donation from him – “Entre nous, I make bold to caution you, as

I know the generosity of your disposition, that in case any private application

be made to you for money, to be on your guard.” The donation was

forthcoming, for there is a note from Father Roderick Macdonell “your

collection for our parish church at [River aux Raisins] has been most grate-

fully received and acknowledged as well by the Parishiners as by their

Pastor.” That same year (1802) John received another letter from a younger

relative, asking for a loan of forty pounds ‘Hallifax’ and excusing himself for

his boldness because of his knowledge of the great numbers John has obliged

in this way. The letter was from Alexander Macdonell, Priest, and was from

the man who was to be the first Bishop of Kingston and founder of the

hierarchy in Upper Canada. Incidentally Father Alexander kept in close

touch with John whom he called his ‘loving uncle’ and in 1811 wrote,

thanking him for his contribution to his college: “I expect to get the church

at Kingston entirely finished this year & I intend to allot a pew in front of the

gallery for the use of the N.W. Co., to show my grateful sense of their liberal

donation towards building it.” That is a rather far cry from the usual picture

of the unscrupulous, unethical hard-headed business men of Montreal, but

both sides of the picture are correct. Perhaps, being prudent Scotsmen, they
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intended to provide for all contingencies and to make the best of both worlds.

John was the banker of the family. Miles, for example, writes to his

brother: “I took my daughters from Montreal in January last and would have

wished they had left the place sooner which my being at York prevented.

They have ruined me in expenses; not me but you. Having been noticed by

Genl. Drummond's Lady, Mrs. McGillvary and others, led them to

considerable expense in dress to attend Balls, Bouts and Evening Parties

given by those Ladies.” Even Spanish John was not above hinting at his

needs and telling of his difficulties. The result was that John had little to

show in later years for his years of service in the North-West Compnay.

Bishop Macdonell wrote to him in 1822 “Your observation that your family

have made worse use of their property than their neighbours may be

extended, I believe, to Catholics in general, who seem to possess less of the

prudence of the serpent than any other class of people on earth. As to the

gains of the N.W. Company, I am informed by those who have been in the

Country since the first formation of that trade that few, very few, of the

children and grandchildren of those who have acquired property in that trade

have enjoyed much of it.” The good Bishop’s generalisation needs qualifi-

cation, but it was certainly true of the Macdonell family.

When John retired from active service in the North-West Company, he

organized a corps of Canadian Voyageurs to fight in the war of 1812.

However on Oct. 23 of that year he was captured with thirty-five of his men

at Michillimakinac and his career in the war was short. When exactly he

settled at Pointe Fortune, not far from Vaudreuil, is uncertain, but he was

certainly there by 1815 when he sold his interests in the North-West

Company. At that time Miles was involved in unsatisfactory litigation with

the company over the troubles at Red River. John naturally refused to testify

against his old associates but Miles advised: ‘Endeavour to get your money

out of their hands as fast as possible. The devil will be to pay with the

concern before long.” There was to be the devil to pay indeed, but with more

than the concern. Miles and the colony were to suffer equally. John was to

pass the last years of his life rather uneventfully with his family as a squire

and small trader. Even the rebellion of 1837 left the quiet section of the

Ottawa Valley relatively untroubled, although John, as head of the First

Prescott Regiment followed with uneasiness the signs of public restlessness.

He died at Pointe Fortune on April 17, 1850.

The name of Miles Macdonell is more familiar to students of the history

of the West, although their interest is concentrated principally on the few

years that he was governor of Assiniboia. He too was born in Scotland, at

Inverness in 1769, and came out to America with his father and settled in the

Glengarry region. At the age of 14 he enlisted in the army and in 1794 was

gazetted a lieutenant in the Royal Canadian Volunteers and in 1796 a

captain. In 1800 he ran for election as member for the County of Glengarry
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McDONELL, JOHN, known as Le Prêtre (beginning in the 1830s he signed Macdonell),
militia officer, fur trader, businessman, judge, office holder, and politician; b. 30 Nov. 1768 in
Scotland, son of John McDonell of Scothouse; d. 17 April 1850 in Pointe-Fortune, Upper
Canada.

John McDonell was born into a distinguished Catholic family with a long military
tradition, the Macdonells of Scothouse (Scotus) in the Isle of Skye. His father, known as
“Spanish” John because of his service in the Spanish forces during the war against the
Austrians in the 1740s, had been a supporter of the Stuart cause before immigrating to the
New World in 1773. That year, with his family and about 600 members of the Macdonell clan
of Glengarry, he moved to the Mohawk valley of New York. During the American
Revolutionary War, Spanish John and his elder son, Miles Macdonell* (the first governor of
Assiniboia, 1811–15), joined the loyalist forces. Young John saw some military service after
1788, when he was gazetted an ensign in the Cornwall and Osnabruck battalion of militia. By
that time the family had moved to the province of Quebec and were settled near present-day
Cornwall.

By May 1793 John had entered the service of the North West Company as a clerk, and he
was sent west to the Qu’Appelle valley. He rose rapidly, becoming a wintering partner about
1796. Three years later he was in charge of the Upper Red River department, where he
remained until 1809, when he was given charge of the Athabasca department. While in the
northwest he earned the nickname Le Prêtre, apparently because of his piety and insistence
that his men observe the feasts of the Roman Catholic Church.

By the early summer of 1812 McDonell was preparing to leave the northwest on rotation to
Montreal. In a letter to his brother Miles in July he expressed his uncertainty about whether
he would return to the interior; he did, in fact, retire from the NWC that year. Upon reaching
Fort William (Thunder Bay, Ont.) in July, he learned that war had broken out with the
United States and he decided to join other fur traders in a proposed attack on the American
garrison at Mackinac Island (Mich.). The expedition was successful [see Charles Roberts*]
but McDonell and his friends arrived too late to participate. In October he was commissioned
captain in the Corps of Canadian Voyageurs and, after only three weeks of service, was taken
prisoner at the battle of Saint-Régis. In April 1813 he was established in the lower Ottawa
valley, where he purchased 1,000 acres of land in Hawkesbury Township and near Pointe-
Fortune, which lay on the provincial boundary. It is not clear when he actually settled there –
he may have remained in the Canadas through at least part of 1814, but he later recalled
being in the interior that year. There is also evidence which suggests that in 1814 McDonell
was considering retiring in the Red River settlement (Man.), where the Earl of Selkirk
[Douglas*] had offered to grant him a township of 10,000 acres.

Biography – McDONELL, JOHN, Le Prêtre (1768-1850) – Volume VII ... http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/mcdonell_john_7E.html?print=1

1 of 4 26/10/2022, 12:15 p.m.

ALG-40184

Herbert J. Mays, “McDONELL, JOHN, Le Prêtre (1768-1850),” in Dictionary of Canadian Biography, vol. 7, University of Toronto/Université Laval, 2003–, accessed October 27, 2022
http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/mcdonell_john_7E.html.



Apparently McDonell decided not to accept this offer because by about 1817 he had
established himself on the Upper Canadian side of Pointe-Fortune, where he built a large
house, Poplar Villa, and started farming. To this home he brought his Métis wife, Magdeleine
Poitras, whom he had married according to the custom of the country some time before 1797.
In June 1812, when he was on his way back from the interior, he had written to Miles that
she had been with him for 18 years since coming “under my protection” in her 12th year.
Always conscious of his duty, he had no intention of following the practice adopted by many
other fur traders of leaving their country wives behind when they retired in the east, a custom
McDonell found “cruel.” Instead, he had determined to take Magdeleine with him and to
provide his children with a “common education so that they may work their way thro’ life in
some honest calling.” Three children had already been sent east to be educated and the
remaining three had accompanied John and their mother to the Canadas in 1813. Prior to his
departure on the Mackinac expedition the previous year, McDonell had drawn up a will
dividing his property equally among the children and providing for an annuity of £50 for
Magdeleine. Yet he may never have taken proper steps to ensure their rights to his property.
Although a marriage contract had been drawn up on 13 April 1813, just before he purchased
the land at Pointe-Fortune, there was evidently no marriage. On 24 April 1853, three years
after McDonell’s death, Magdeleine went through an act of posthumous marriage to ensure
that she and her children would be his legal heirs. They had had four sons and two
daughters.

After settling in Pointe-Fortune McDonell became the leading businessman in the area. He
ran a general store in the village, and by 1819 had established himself as an early member of
the network of forwarders who kept freight moving on the Ottawa to and from Montreal. He
was associated in this activity with the firms of Grant and Duff, and Whiting and Crane, both
of which carried on business on the St Lawrence as well as the Ottawa. Between Pointe–
Fortune and Hull he worked with Thomas Mears of Hawkesbury Mills and with Philemon
W  of Hull. About 1819 he invested in a steamboat, but it was doomed to failure
because, Miles told John in October 1819, the vessel (then at Lachine) drew too much water.

A tall man (at least six feet three inches in height) who occasionally dressed in full
Highland garb, McDonell was active in public affairs. In 1816 he was appointed a judge of the
Ottawa District Court, a post he held for nine years, and he served as a district roads
commissioner. From 1817 to 1820 he represented Prescott in the Upper Canadian House of
Assembly. In 1822 he was made colonel in the Prescott Reserve Militia.

Despite his successes in the business world and in public life, McDonell never enjoyed
financial security or stability. Undoubtedly, he lost from his investment in the steamboat. He
gave lavishly to churches, schools, and his family. Bishop Alexander M D  of Kingston
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regularly called upon him for donations. As well, Miles Macdonell, who was always in need of
money, drew regularly on his brother’s account with the NWC. It was John who paid most of
the expenses for the costly schooling of Miles’s daughters in Montreal and who cared for
Miles when his health failed after his return from the interior. An additional cause of his
financial distress may have been Poplar Villa itself. In 1820 Governor Lord Dalhousie
[R ] described McDonell as a man who had made his fortune with the NWC but who
“like a fool . . has spent his all in a big house, which he said he can’t now afford to furnish.”
Because of this distress McDonell took out numerous mortgages against his property. By
1830 his financial needs were so pressing that Miles’s son Donald Æneas MacDonell* felt it
necessary to sign over his own claims to moneys owed his father by the Selkirk estate in order
to try to relieve his uncle’s indebtedness. The Selkirk moneys could not be collected, however,
and in 1842 John McDonell was forced to list his house and property for sale. Somehow, he
managed to avoid selling his home, and he died there eight years later. He was buried across
the river in St Andrews (Saint-André-Est, Que.).

H  J. M

John McDonell’s diaries have been published as “Mr John McDonnell: some account of the Red
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LEFEBVRE DE BELLEFEUILLE, LOUIS-CHARLES (also called Charles or Charles-
Louis), Sulpician and missionary; b. 12 Jan. 1795 in Saint-Eustache, Lower Canada, younger
son of Antoine Lefebvre de Bellefeuille, seigneur of Cournoyer, and Louise-Angélique
Lambert Dumont, daughter of Eustache-Louis Lambert Dumont, seigneur of Mille-Îles;
d. 25 Oct. 1838 in Montreal.

Louis-Charles Lefebvre de Bellefeuille was a descendant of two great Canadian families
that had distinguished themselves during the French régime. From 1807 to 1815 he pursued
the classical program of studies at the Petit Séminaire de Montréal, as did most of his
brothers. His principal teachers were Antoine-Jacques Houdet* and Claude Rivière. Upon
completion of the final two years (Philosophy), he began his theological education with
Jacques-Guillaume R , the director of the Petit Séminaire. He was also a regent at that
time.

As his studies progressed, Lefebvre de Bellefeuille took the various steps leading to the
priesthood. He was ordained priest by Joseph-Octave Plessis* in Montreal on 5 June 1819.
Although he had already spent a period of time at the Lac-des-Deux-Montagnes (Oka)
mission to learn the Algonkin language, he was named assistant priest in the Montreal parish
of Notre-Dame that year. He was admitted as a member of the community of Saint-Sulpice in
Montreal on 31 Jan. 1821. His duties included performing baptisms, attending burials, and
drawing up the appropriate religious and civil records. As well, he visited the sick and the
poor of the faubourgs Saint-Joseph, Saint-Antoine, and Sainte-Anne. From time to time he
also taught the catechism in the chapel of Notre-Dame-de-Bonsecours and served as
confessor to the sisters of the Congregation of Notre-Dame. He preached five or six times a
year, at Sunday mass or during the solemn novena of St Francis Xavier, a devotion then
performed by many.

Attracted to the Lac-des-Deux-Montagnes mission by fellow Sulpician Anthelme Malard,
Lefebvre de Bellefeuille stayed there once more from 1824 to 1826, and after further pastoral
training at Montreal in 1826 and 1827, he was named superior in 1828. The mission had
three sites and some 900 people: the village itself, which had a few whites but mostly Indian
inhabitants, an Iroquois village, and an Algonkin village. The seminary had never, from the
beginning of the mission in 1721, granted any land to the Indians. It received the usufruct of
a reasonable part of the domain reserved for the Indians’ use. After the conquest this
arrangement gave rise to complaints, originally from the Iroquois in particular, and later it
created difficulties between the Sulpicians and all the groups in the mission. Lefebvre de
Bellefeuille was confronted with a number of claims in July 1828. The Algonkins sent the
secretary of the Indian Department, Duncan Campbell Napier*, a memorial laying out 11
grievances, ranging from the priest’s refusal to help the Indians with alms to accusations of

Biography – LEFEBVRE DE BELLEFEUILLE, LOUIS-CHARLES – ... http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/lefebvre_de_bellefeuille_louis_charles...

1 of 4 2022-11-10, 9:46 a.m.

ALG-40233

Bruno Harel, “LEFEBVRE DE BELLEFEUILLE, LOUIS-CHARLES,” in Dictionary of Canadian Biography, vol. 7, University of Toronto/Université Laval, 2003–, accessed November 10, 2022,
http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/lefebvre_de_bellefeuille_louis_charles_7E.html 



ill treatment of a poor widow. On 1 August he refuted these allegations, and the Algonkin
council apologized to him.

In October 1834 Lefebvre de Bellefeuille returned to Montreal and resumed his duties as
assistant priest. During the summers of 1836, 1837, and 1838 Bishop Jean-Jacques L
sent him to open missions to the Indians in the northwest of Lower Canada. He had been
chosen because of his knowledge of Algonkin, and in 1836 with Jean-Baptiste Dupuy* he
went by canoe to Fort Timiskaming (near Ville-Marie), where he spent 13 days. He returned
after performing 142 baptisms and 4 marriages. The following year he left Montreal alone,
spent two weeks with his converts of the previous year at Fort Timiskaming, and then
travelled to Lake Abitibi for a first visit of 9 days. But he ran short of provisions and had to
turn around. On his way back he stopped at several posts that he had visited the year before.
In all, he performed 190 baptisms and 21 marriages. His biggest mission, however, was to
take place in 1838. He covered 1,500 miles, visiting Fort Timiskaming and Lake Abitibi again
before continuing on to Grand Lac Victoria. As he was suffering from great fatigue, he
returned in haste to Montreal. It appears that he performed 550 baptisms in the course of
these three trips. In so doing he opened up northwestern Lower Canada to the Roman
Catholic faith.

Exhausted by his missionary activity, Lefebvre de Bellefeuille, whose health had always
been delicate, died of typhoid fever on 25 Oct. 1838. Two days later Bishop Ignace Bourget*
officiated at his burial, which took place in the crypt of Notre-Dame in Montreal. An Oblate
missionary, Nicolas Laverlochère, later wrote of him: “The first missionary to these parts had
to have a unique ability to win people’s hearts. Although it is now seven years since God
recalled him, his name is still blessed by all who knew him, whatever their race or religion.”
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